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AS OF DECEMBER 2002, WESTERN OIL SANDS AND ITS PARTNERS HAD COMPLETED
CONSTRUCTION OF THE $5.6 BILLION FIRST PHASE OF THE ATHABASCA OIL SANDS PROJECT
(AOSP) WHICH INCLUDES THE CONSTRUCTION OF FACILITIES REQUIRED TO MINE, EXTRACT
AND UPGRADE 1.7 BILLION BARRELS OF BITUMEN RESOURCES THAT ARE LOCATED WITHIN
THE JOINT VENTURE'S LEASES. THESE RESERVES ARE éUFFICIENT FOR 30 YEARS OF NON-
DECLINING BITUMEN PRODUCTION AT 155,000 BARRELS PER DAY. WESTERN EXPECTS
TO PARTICIPATE IN PROJECT EXPANSIONS WHICH ARE NOW IN THE PLANNING AND
REGULATORY .APPROVAL STAGES. IN DUE COURSE, THE JOINT VENTURE EXPECTS TO DEVELOP

ALL OF THE REMAINING 7.1 BILLION BARRELS OF RESOURCES UNDER THEIR CONTROL.

Oour processes proven.
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Chairman’s Message to Shareholders

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF WESTERN OIL SANDS IS RESPONSIBLE TO AND REPRESENTS
THE INTERESTS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WESTERN, A COMPANY WHICH IS DEVELOPING

A MAJOR, COMPLEX ENERGY PROJECT IN NORTHERN ALBERTA.

During 2002, the Board dealt primarily with four tasks:
1) To ensure the current, first stage of the Project was executed properly;

2) To plan for and foster development of the future stages of the Project which will ultimately allow
production to more than triple to over 500,000 barrels per day;

3) To ensure that the Company was properly financed; and
4) To ensure that the corporate governance of the Company was of the highest standards.

The Chief Exeéuﬁve's report and the remainder of this Annual Report deal with the first three
items. There have been significant challenges and we are pleased that the owners' interests in these
areas have been actively protected and enhanced.

I would like to speak more directly with regard to corporate governance. In February of 2002,
the Board separated the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive and clearly identified the
Chairman as being directly responsible for the stewardship of the Board. We are pleased with -our
progress to date. All of the directors, other than the Chief Executive, are independent and most have a
significant ownership position in the Company. The Board and the various committees have met
frequently during the year and have provided active and constructive direction and guidance for the

benefit of our shareholders.

Western's Board strives for excellence in corperate governance. Every Board meeting has a
session consisting only of independent directors. There are no loans t¢ management; options have never
been re-priced; management compensation is fair and not excessive; and new directors are chosen by
the independent directors. The Board truly is responsible for the Company and for representing the

interests of the owners.
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Western is a company with strong management who think like owners. And with an excep-
tional resource base, fine partners and dedicated managers and staff, we are positioned to produce
excellent results. In our first two years as a public company, the market price of Western's stock has
risen over 60 per cent. And this occurred against the backdrop of a major downward movement for

North American equity markets.

Not everything has gone perfectly but the Western Board, management and staff have worked
hard to build a world-class, long-life energy mega-project and to do so in a way that everyone - the

local community, staff, owners and ultimately users of energy — can be proud of.

[ would like to sincerely thank my fellow directors for their commitment and advice. The entire
Board would like to extend to the management and staff of Western our heartfelt thanks for your effort
and dedication.

All of us look forward to the realisation of the full promise of this Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Geolffrey A. Cumming

Chairman
March 24, 2003







WESTERN O1L SANDS 2002

Message to Shareholders

The 2002 year was a watershed year for Western Oil Sands. Over the 12-
month period we marched steadily, inexorably towards our project
completion target. And we made it. By year-end, the construction force was
gone and we were mining oil sands, extracting bitumen, filling the pipelines,
and shipping to the Upgrader. In a two-week period we were able to test our
systems, quality check our processes and are very positive about the
outcome. Clearly there are still corrective actions and start-up problems to
work through. But we feel confident today that we will fulfill our mandate, of
mining and sending 155,000 barrels per day of bitumen down the Corridor
Pipeline to the Scotford Upgrader by the end of the third quarter of 2003.

long-term perspective.

As I look back on 2002, however, there are many more accomplish-
ments of the Western team and its parmers. First was our outstanding safety
and environmental record. There were millions of man-hours of work invested
in the construction of the Muskegq River Mine facilities and Scotford Upgrader
over a three-year period. The majority of these man-hours were concentrated
in 2002 as we intensified the construction effort to meet the deadlines. In this
heightened construction state there were very few incidents, lost time injuries
or environmental issues, which allows us to claim truly world-class safety and
environmental performance. This impeccable record is, [ believe, very rare in
the global context of major construction projects. It points directly to the
expertise of our people and their leadership in putting such a high priority on

safety and environmental concerns.
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The number of man-hours also tells a story of the enormous size of this project. In Alberta, we
may become somewhat jaded at the description of a multi-billion dollar oil sands project, because we
have several of them. In the context of Canada, this project was one of the largest construction projects
in the country; in fact likely among the top ten projects in terms of size and complexity in the world. The
impact of these projects is considerable. We created thousands of jobs for which Albertans and First
Nation communities were preferentially selected for employment. We paid close to $1 billion to the
federal government and roughly $300 million to the provincial government in personal income taxes.
And these were the direct costs; the economic multiplier effect of our total capital investment in terms of
salaries and spending in the economy is likely two to three times those numbers. [ believe it is important
to keep these numbers in mind when considering the implications of government policies, such as the
proposed Kyoto Protocol, which depending on the nature of government guidelines for implementation,
could serve to inhibit the viability of projects such as ours.

The total cost of this project is $5.6 billion, which represents an increase of §8 per cent over
the original budget. The spectre of cost increases became apparent in 2001 as a result of labour short-
ages resulting from competing demand from other mega projects in the Fort McMurray area, Costs
continued to rise in 2002 as a result of challenges to the expected levels of labour productivity.
Western's 20 per cent share of the total cost is $1.12 billion. Forming part of our financing structure is a
cost overrun insurance policy in the amount of $200 million that was put in place to insulate us from the
possibility of construction costs exceeding the budget that was established for the Project. This amount
has yet to be collected from our insurers and is being vigorously pursued.

A major accomplishment of our financial group was the expedient financing program they main-
tained through the construction phase, which allowed us to stay ahead of the curve in terms of our cash
requirements. One of Western's key objectives from the outset was to estéblish an optimal financial struc-
ture; one that gave us access to capital as required but preserved the ability to provide maximum returns
to our shareholders. For that reason, our financing strategy was to secure a minimum of equity financing
and to pace our debt financings to meet Project capital requirements, with the objective of achieving
strong terms that minimized our cost of capital and allows us to ultimately achieve investment grade debt
ratings. Thanks to our small but skilled team, we have been able to accomplish these goals. In 2002, we
placed US$450 million in 10-year bonds, which will allow the company to employ its cash flow to fund the
debottlenecking and expansion phases of the Project.

We completed an equity offering in February 2003 for $50.2 million. This financing was required
as aresult of significant delays in negotiations with our insurers on the collection of the $200 million insur-
ance claim associated with the cost overrun. Western has submitted claims totalling more than $400
million associated with cost overruns and $70 million with respect to delays in start-up of operations. The
total of these claims is well in excess of the policy limit designated in our insurance policy. We are frus-

trated that this process is taking so long, and intend on diligently pursuing full recovery of this claim.
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‘With 2002 behind us, we are facing 2003 with a sense of anticipation and excitement. It will be a
pivotal year for Western Oll Sands and the Joint Venture, as we test the reliability of the extraction and
upgrading processes and ramp up to full production by the third quarter of the year. As previously
reported, the fire we experienced in January was a very unfortunate incident that happily did not injure our
people, and had limited impact cn the facility We expect that repairs to the extraction plant will be
completed allowing the Mine to be ready to supply bitumen to the Upgrader in preparation of first synthetic
oil production by the end of the first quarter of 2003.

For Western, 2003 will be a year of transition as we move from a company focused on construc-
tion and financing to one that is managing the operations of the Mine and extraction facilities, monitoring
the overall project operations, and marketing our portion of the synthetic crude production. We have
established a marketing department, with a team of people skilled in marketing and moving crude oil

into the North American and international marketplace.

Our focus in 2003 will also be aimed at the next phase of growth for the company. Once we have 7
reached full production, the Joint Venture will enter a debottienecking phase of our existing operations. At
the same time, we are working on the expansion of the Muskeg River project. This program anticipates
expanding our mining capability to reserves that lie beyond the existing permitted section of Lease 13,
and south to Lease 90. The expansion project is planned to increase production to approximately 225,000
barrels per day and is scheduled for 2006-2007. We are also in the advanced stages of regulatory
approval for a new project at the Jackpine Mine site. This is a two-phase project that will exploit reserves
on Leases 13 East, 88 and 89. The application for approval has been submitted and we expect to receive
regulatory approval to proceed to the next stage by the fourth quarter of 2003. Construction of the
Jackpine facilities is roughly expected to begin in the 2007-2009 time period. These projects are expected
to bring total production for the Joint Venture to 525,000 barrels per day within the next 10 years.

Jackpine Mine

project expansions
Muskeqg River Mine
st . Phase I 88/89

13

Jackpine Mine
Phase [}13 East

Muskeg Expansion 13/30




The lead-time required to develop these projects is very long, and the life of the resource base

we have to work with is commensurately long. The Muskeg River project is accessing reserves esti-
mated at 1.68 billion barrels of synthetic crude of which Western's share is 336 million barrels. The
expansion projects including Jackpine will add 7.1 billion barrels to the total reserve base, bringing
Western's total reserves to 1.76 billion barrels. Given these very long lead times, our ability as a
company and as a Joint Venture 1o finance future projects is highly dependent on having a predictable
economic and taxation environment within which we can model costs and build investment parameters
with confidence. For that reason the implications of the Kyoto Protocol including the methodology of its
implementation are critical to us. We are working today without detailed guidelines from the Government
of Canada and require clarification in order to move forward confidently. Indications to date are that the
implications on Western and its partners are both predictable and manageable. From the outset, Western
and its partmers were acutely aware of the pristine qualities of the environment in which our project was
based and the extreme importance of minimizing dur impact on that envirenment. The mining plan for
leases 13, 88, 89 and 90 includes a detailed reclamation and reforestation plan that anticipates areas will
be reclaimed on an ongoing basis as the Mine expands. Our plan for greenhouse gas emission reduc-
tions was presented as part of our original investor presentations in 1989. As it stands today, the project
will be starting up with emissions that are 27 per cent lower than the original case that was approved by
the AEUB. We have achieved this through the addition of cogeneration units, the use of waste hydrogen
from a neighbouring facility and a variety of process improvements. Our goal is to further reduce emis-

sions by another 50 per cent by 2010 through a combination of energy efficiency projects.

As we move forward into expansion projects, we are critically aware of the value of the learn-
ings we havevexperienced in this first construction project. This enormous project was carried off with
an impeccable safety and environmental record; the pre-commissioning phase was smooth as the
construction team handed over the project to the operations group and start-up began. Hours and hours
of work went into making sure this would happen, but we also recognize that this knowledge needs to be
captured, and lessons learned about where we can improve on this record. We hope to take advantage
of the knowledge gained for the benefit of subsequent projects, with the primary objective of success-

fully delivering the expansion projects.
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Three years ago, Western Oil Sands was in its embryonic development phase. Today we are
an organization with a market capitalization of $1.2 billion, part of a Joint Venture with world-class part-
ners operating a $5.6 billion project and will be producing and selling 190,000 barrels per day of
synthetic crude oil into the North American and international marketplace. Given our light speed growth,
it isn't swprising that we are not yet well known, to investors, to refiners, to people in our communities.
Our communication focus over the coming years wil b? directed at broadening the exposure to and
understanding of our company. We believe companies today are known, not simply for the investment
value they create, but more importantly for the human values they bring to the people and communities
in which they operate. For Western as an organization, it is very important that we be known as respen-
sible; a company that respects the environment, the safety of its work force, cares about how it treats
people and learns from past experiences. We want to be seen as a valued, responsible contributor to our
Joint Venture, and a secure source of high quality synthetic crude to our customers. And we also want to
be seen as financially prudent and focused on creating strong, stable and predictable value for share-

holders. These are the values of our management team, our employees, and our organization.

There have been many people who made significant contributions to this project and [ want to
sincerely thank them for their efforts — our employees, our advisors, our Board of Directors, our partners,
and you, our shareholders. We are transitioning from construction to operations and production and
I believe we have established a very strong foundation for Western in three short and very busy years.

[ look forward to the challenge and opportunity of guiding Western as it grows and thrives in the future.

A\ P

Guy J. Turcotte

President and Chief Executive Officer
March 24, 2003
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Operations

Western Oil Sands is ready. After three years of construction and an intense
period of testing, we are ready for production to flow and full operations o
commence. The 2002 year was a period of focused construction to meet dead-
lines along with concurrent pre-commissioning, commissioning and start-up.
Through this transition, we tested all aspects of Mine and Upgrader operaﬁons
to our complete satisfaction. Initial bitumen recovery and quality achieved
design targets and met all required upgrading specifications. Deliveries of
diluted bitumen into the Corridor Pipeline system commenced before year-
end, enroute to the Scotford Upgrader. At the Upgrader, the primary distillation
units were successfully tested during the fourth quarter and commissioning and
testing of the synthetic crude units was well underway at year-end and prior to
the end of Lhé first quarter of 2003 we produced our first synthetic crude oil.
2003 will be the pivotal year for us as we ramp up production levels to design
capacity. The final push to full-scale production is now underway. The Mine and
extraction plant are expected to be operating at design capacity of 155,000
barrels per day of bitumen coincident with full-scale production of synthetic
crude oil from the Upgrader by the third quarter of 2003.

~full-scale production.

WESTERHN
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We look back over the past three years with a great deal of satisfaction over what has been
accomplished. We know today that the technology decisions were good decisions; the significance of thls
cannot be underestimated. Selecting appropriate technology for a project of this size and complexity has
enbrmous implications on the timing of completion and ultimately on operating costs. [ believe we made
spectfic choices that will have significant benefits for the operation of the project over.the long term. For
example, the close coupling of the hydro-treater and hydro-converter at the Upgrader in order to
streamline the primary processing units (PPU) flow sheet is a first for the industry and is an unqualified
success. There were several other technological “firsts” that I believe we can celebrate. The counter-
current decantation circuit at the Mine site — which ensures an ultra-clean bitumen free of impurities for
upgrading to synthetic crude in the PPU —is a 800 to 1 scale-up from the Joint Venture's pilot plant and is
performing as designed as the technical fundamentals have now been proven in full scale operation.
These are but two of the many design improvements we have implemented in this Project that further
advances the cost reduction efforts of this industry, so successfully pioneered by Sunceor and Syncrude

12

for many years. I believe we owe much of this success to the technology sharing agreements with
Syncrude, Suncor, LC Fining and Shell Global Solutions, to name a few. Many other decisions were made
with costs savings in mind, such as the sharing of services and facilities with Shell's Scotford Refinery,
which helped reduce capital costs and minimize construction cost exposure. These decisions have been
implemented and are successfully serving the needs of the Upgrader as planned.

We can also look back on the construction phase with pride for the records set and targets met
in the face of extreme challenges. Alberta experienced an unprecedented demand for labour over the
past two years and yet these pressures, although costly, had limited impact on the schedule. Scope
changes can be significant for a project of this size and complexity, yet we experienced few changes
from our original plans which is the result of the discipline applied during the engineering phase of the
Project. Noteworthy is the success of our procurement program where early and skillful procurement

resulted in major equipment purchases, essentially on budget.’

A significant achievernent was the world-class safety record achieved by the entire Project. At
the peak of construction, over 15,000 staff and contractors were at work on the Project. Yet lost-time inci-

dents were maintained at a level well below both the rate for Canada's industry average, and the average

Steve Reymish
President and Chief
Operating Officer
Albian Sands Energy Inc.




for the oil and gas industry. In 2002 alone, over 30 million man-hours were dedicated to the Project, and
the Joint Venture's employees and contractors achieved or exceeded world-class targets. Several provin-
cial safety records were established as we celebrated construction hours without a lost time accident

many times at the multi-million manhour level; the highest being over 12 million hours worked.

Throughout the construction phase, we maintained strong and successful relations with our
workforce, with no strikes or disruptions, notwithstanding peak manpower of over 15,000 people. This
underscores the strong support and cooperation from the province's unions; all 27 unions negotiated
contfacts in good faith in 2000, leading to a work place agreement mid-year 2000 that was honoured
through to construction completion at year end 2002. The leadership of each of these unions, with the
strong, continuous, active participation of the leadership at the Alberta Building Trades deserve our grat-
itude for their unyielding commitment to the success of this Project.

We also owe a vote of thanks to our third party partmers who operate several key facilities for
the Project. In planning the Project, we identified an opportunity to partner with companies who were
experts in the construction and operation of liquid and gas pipelines and cogeneration facilities. On
Project completion we can now conclude this to be a wise decision as we move to the operating phase
and are now benefiting from facilities that have been construction successes and are operating

according to expectations.

The final construction phase in 2002 required tremendous discipline and ccoperation from the
construction work force and operations pefsonnel, who worked in parallel to systematically hand over
" components of the Project from construction to operations upon completion to allow for the pre-commis-
sioning of each of these components at the earliest possible time. This cooperative effort was critical to

achieving the Project’s milestones, and helped increase operational preparedness.

While facilities were being completed during 2002, operational teams were being assembled
throughout the year and trained systematically in preparation for start-up using a variety of training tools
including plant simulators at both the Mine and Upgrader sites. We cannot understate the experience
and skill of our start-up teamns at successfully bringing each of the highly complex components of this
project through commissioning and into the operating phase. This process has been an intense effort
invelving highly trained operations personnel as well as specialists recruited from our partners in their

other operations around the world. Critical support functions were also introduced at the Mine and
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Upgrader sites. These included maintenance capabilities, purchasing and warehousing management,
health, safety, security and environmental management; and support functions such as accounting,
finance and human resources. With all of these systems in place, we are well positioned to complete the

transition to full-scale operations.

In January 2003, we experienced a fire at the Muskeg River Mine extraction plant that was
caused by a leak in the hydrocarbon circuit arising from the failure of a piping connection. There were
no injuries and the fire was quickly extinguished. We expect that our insurance policies will cover the
cost of repairs as well as any resulting delays to the start-up schedule. After giving effect to insurance
coverage provided under our Joint Venture construction policies, this incident is not expected to have a

material impact to the Project in terms of costs or delays.

Once full producticn is achieved, our focus will turn to opportunities to increase production
through debottlenecking and expansion. Beginning in late 2003, the entire system will undergo a
program of debottlenecking to pinpoint systems and components with underutilized capacity and to
investigate ways to optimize performance. This Is a process that could take several years and will have
a positive incremental impact on production volumes and operating efficiencies. As a further value addi-
tion, evaluation is underway to determine the feasibility of adding technology enhancements to the
Scotford Upgrader to process heavier carbons which are not converted in the current upgrading

process in order to fully optimize the value of the output streams from the Upgrader.

We also look forward to expansion opportunities that will capture the value of the resources
underlying our leases. Plans for the expansion of the Muskeg River project are now underway; this expan-
sion will access oil sands resources beyond the existing site on Lease 13 and south to Lease 90. This
expansion project is scheduled for 2006-2007. Upon completion of the debottlenecking and expansion,
production is expected to significantly increase by 80 per cent to approximately 225,000 barrels per day.

We are also in the advanced regulatory approval stage for a new project at the Jackpine Mine
site. This two-phase project will exploit reserves on Leases 13 East, 88 and 83. We expect to receive
approval to proceed to the next stage by the third quarter of 2003. Construction of the initial Jackpine
facilities is roughly expected to occur in 2007-2008. These projects are expected to bring total produc-

-tion for the Joint Venture to 525,000 barrels per day within the next 10 years.

As we enter the pivotal year of commencing operations, we are entering a new phase as a
revenue-generating entity. Our expertise in mining and extraction combined with the proven ability to
fund such a massive project, are now matched by a substantial base of knowledge to leverage into
further projects to capitalize on the huge resources of the Joint Venture's oil sands leases.
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~ Stages of Production

i OrePreparation . < . ' Muskeg River Mine

% Extraction = ' .. Muskeg River Mine -

. - Froth Treatment ‘ IR MuskégRi,ver Mine

% StorageandPipeline ~ .~ '~ MuskegRiver Mine/Corridor Pipeline

#  Upgrading ’ : . Scotfo’rd.Upgréder :

% Blending and Marketing =~ . Scotford Upgrader

The Athabasca Qil Sands Project
is one of the world’s largest

construction projects in term
size and complexity. Behind that
effort was Western and its

partners and their combined




Construction of the Athabasca Oil Sands Project was completed in late 2002
bringing to fruition a massive feat in engineering, design, planning and coordi-
nation. Each component of the mega-project introduced its own complexities
and challenges: developing a Mine site and extraction plant to begin
processing of one of the world’s largest bitumen reserves; constructing 453 km
of dedicated pipeline; and incorporating leading technology into the design of
an Upgrader to produce high quality synthetic crude. Those were only a few of
the monumental tasks involved. Throughout the entire construction phase, the
Project maintained a world-class safety record ~ testament to the commitment

of thousands of people who participated in such a momentous achievement.

Fort Saskatchewan

Edmenton

world-class expertise.

Left to right:

Neil Camarta

Senior Vice President, Oil Sands
Shell Canada Limited

Paul Rogers

Manager, Oil Sands
Chevron Canada Limited

John Frangos

Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer
Western Oi! Sands Inc.
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+ + + +

The mining fleet will consist of five electric shovels
supported by twenty-three 400-tonne haul trucks as well as

numerous graders, dozers and other support equipment.

+ + +

. C R Ore is mined using traditional truck and shovel mining techniques.

Two tonnes of oil sands ore are required to create one barrel of bitumen and one barrel of bitumen will create
one barrel of synthetic crude. The mined ore passes through primary crushers, reducing the ore to chunks
smaller than 16 inches and then sent to rotary breakers, which break the ore further into particles two inches in
size or smaller using hot water. This creates a shurry, which conditions the ore and starts the separation process
as it travels along a two-kilometre pipeline to primary extraction.



» The rock/bitumen slurry moves through a pipeline to the extraction plant where

sand, clay and other parncles are separated from the bitumen. Air is introduced to the slurry as it enters two large
primary separation vessels. The bitumen attaches to the air bubbles and rises to the surface as a bitumen-rich

froth. The remaining sand and clay particles settle to the bottom and are pumped to tailings ponds. The addition
of steam in a separate process removes the air bubbles and the bitumen is sent to two large storage tanks.

+

Coarse sand particles recovered

+

through the extraction process will
be pumped to the tailings pond and

reused for dyke construction.

Solvent is recovered from the tailings and reused which, combined with sclvent recovery from diluted bitumen (dilbit) delivered

to the Upgrader via the Corridor pipeline system, achieves close to 100 per cent sclvent containment within the process.

The froth treatment process uses a counter-current decantation
(CCD), solvent extraction process that is a unique application to oil sands, although it has been used extensively

in other minerals extraction processes for many years. The bitumen froth is drawn from storage and solvent is
added within this CCD circuit to separate out the remaining solids, water and heavy asphaltenes. The solvent
washes the sand and ultimately recovers about 89 per cent of the bitumen and removes all of the sand, producing
a very clean bitumen that is reguired in order for the Upgrader to run efficiently. The process yields a mixture of
solvent and bitumen that is ready to be stored and transported to the Upgrader. The remaining non-bitumen
solids are directed to the tailings stream once it passes through a solvent IECOVEry Process.




< : ! z Two large storage vessels at each end of the Corridoxr
Pipeline store the dilbit and ensure a constant supply of dilbit is available to the Upgrader. These vessels each

hold 300,000 barrels; in aggregate enough to keep the Upgrader in operation for eight days. Transportation of
dilbit to the Scotford Upgrader is via a 453-kilometre, 24-inch pipeline. The solvent is removed at the Upgrader
and transported via a parallel 12-inch pipeline back to the Mine site for re-use.

At design capacity of 155,000 barrels per day of biturnen, the pipeline will carry 228,000 barrels per day
of diluted bitumen and approximately 73,000 barrels per day of diluent in the return line.

-+

e 7> Inits raw form, bitumen is too high in carbon and sulphur to be of optimal value in
the marketplace. The bitumen at the Scotford Upgrader is upgraded using both hydro-treating and hydro-conver-
sion processes which remove sulphur, add hydrogen and break the heavy carbon molecules, and with the addition
of non-bitumen feedstocks, yield 130,000 barrels per day of synthetic crude oil and 60,000 barrels per day of
heavier vacuum gas oil. The hydrogen addition process increases the bitumen volume by about three per cent with
no waste products. In addition, other feedstock is subsequently added to create different blends of crude.




We will market our share of volumes to refineries in North America and interna-

tionally. To maximize pricing, we will act as an independem, full-service marketer, providing customers with a

stable, long-term supply of high quality crude, technical support, customized blends and pipeline transporta-
tion, as required.

+ + +

We are marketing two standard blends of synthetic crude —

Premium Albian Synthetic and Albian Heavy Synthetic -
along with a range of customized blends to meet specific

customer requirements.

+ + + + +

Hydrogen conversion technology is an environmentally friendly
upgrading process producing lower levels of sulphur dioxide and
eliminating any waste coke by-products.

+ + + + +







Marketing

Entering 2003, we have moved past the construction phase of the Project into a
marketing and operating environment. High pricrity is being given to the devel-
opment of our marketing profile as synthetic crude oil production commenced in
the first quarter of 2003. An aggressive strategy to market our share of produc-
tion will be supported by assisting refining customers with their displaced
volurnes through the marketing and brokering of crude oil to third parties. This
will position us as one of a handful of independent crude oil brokers in Canada

and in a strong position to market our own synthetic crude production.

Owr marketing strategy is based on maximizing the price received
for our synthetic crude, while building long-term relationships and industry
presence among the refining community in the North American and in the
international marketplace. Our ability to create strong customer relationships
is of particular significance, considering the large production volume

increases expected from the Joint Venture's planned project expansions.

Our share of crude oil available for sale out of the Upgrader is
expected to be approximately 38,000 barrels per day including feedstocks by
the third quartef of 2003. Over the next few years, debotilenecking and expan-
sion could increase our share of crude oil available for sale to about 55,000
barrels per day including feedstocks. Development of a second stand-alone

mine, the Jackpine Mine, is a longer term project that, over the next 10 years,

synthetic crude.
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will augment total project production to 525,000 barrels per day of bitumen. By this time we expect to be

producing and marketing cur share of crude oil available for sale which will be close to 125,000 barrels

per day of high quality synthetic crude, including feedstocks, in addition to marketing and brokering

displaced refinery volumes. The long life nature of oil sands reserves will provide our customers with a

secure long-term supply of feedstock for their refinery operations.

As we move to being an aggressive full-service marketer we are able to capitalize on a number

of key competitive advantages:

‘We are operating as an independent producer; we are not affiliated with any single refinery. This
means that we have the flexibility to focus on every customer and provide specific services to meet

their needs - from brokering or swapping volumes to acquiring pipeline transportation.

While our independence sets us apart from our partners, it is our association with Shell and
ChevronTexaco that provides considerable refining expertise and access to technical support for

our customers.

Our ultimate advantage is the high quality of our synthetic crude and the value-added advantages for
the refining industry. By the third quarter of 2003, our share of crude ol available for sale will include:

~ 26,000 barrels per day of a combination of light synthetic crude, which is branded as Premium
Albian Synthetic, and a heavier crude, known as Albian Heavy Synthetic, which is well suited to
heavy crude coking refineries; and

— 12,000 barrels per day of vacuum gas oil, which will be sold to Shell under a long-term contract.

‘We will be able to respond to our customers' needs by adjusting and customizing the characteristics

of crude being blended for shipment at the Scotford Upgrader.

Beyond customizing blends, we will be able to identify and respond to specific requirements of the
refining industry by developing customized solutions.

As a result of specific technological features of our upgrading processes, our synthetic crude offers
customers superior qualities for processing, blending and customizing products. This flexibility can
be particularly attractive to improving refinery efficiencies.

The low sulphur content of our synthetic crude is of particular benefit to refineries which are required
to meet low sulphur fuel specifications.

Ouwr synthetic oil has the advantage of higher cetane and a higher jet smoke point versus other

synthetic crudes.

The bitumen/diluent flows through the Corridor Pipeline to the Scotford Upgrader and, following
upgrading, the synthetic crude is transported through another dedicated pipeline to the crude oil
terminals near Edmonton. This allows us to maintain the integrity and ultimately the quality of our
synthetic crude.

Through direct sales to refineries and the full-service capacity to market volumes for refineries

and/or producers of crude oil, we are positioned to build strong market presence and long-term rela-

tionships, thereby realizing maximum value for our high quality synthetic crude.
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Sustainable Development

The Athabasca Qil Sands Project has been designed and constructed around the principles of delivering
profitability within the directive of sustainable development. In the view of Western and its partners,
sustainable development involves the integration of environmental, social and economic considerations
in the decision-making and execution process. Ultimately, a commitment to sustainable development and

corporate responsibility is critical to sound operaticns, and to expansion in the future.
27
A crucial element of sustainable development has been the Project partners’ strategy of exten-

sive and open dialogues with key stakeholders: local communities, First Nations, governments and
individuals, among others. This commitment includes training of the Project’s employees to enhance
knowledge and the application of sustainable development practices. This open communication process
has led to significant investments to ensure the continuation of sustainable development. First Nations'
involvement in construction and now operations continues to be win-win. Community support through
our community relations program continues to grow as both the Mine and the Upgrader become

" welcome and established partners in their respective communities.

One area of emphasis has been to balance the economic benefits of the Project with the needs
of the local community in a meaningful and sustainable way. The Project employed over 18,000 staff and
contractors at its peak of construction. A key thrust has been to help expand the scope and capacity of
local business, while providing employment to local communities and Aboriginal businesses. The Project
has yielded $50 million in contracts to Aboriginal businesses, half of which went to businesses near Fort
McKay, the closest Aboriginal community. As one example of the focus on sustainability, the Fort McKay
Group of Companies had expanded its capabilities and services from brush clearing to becoming a low-
cost mining contractor and has entered into a longer-term alliance with Albian Sands Energy, the company
formed to operate the Mine north of Fort McMurray. This commitment to working with local communities

to provide social and economic benefits is critical to ongoing operations and to expansions in the future.

Environmental considerations have been fundamental to the Project's design and development.
This dedication includes minimizing impacts on wildlife and the landscape, including sensitivity to biodi-
versity, water, air and the people living and working near the Project. ‘

In developing the Mine site, land disturbance was minimized with the benefit of leading tech-
- nology and land-use practices. To ensure minimal impacts to the health of people and crops in the area,
the Project ha$ invested in programs to test for levels of organic compounds, nitrogen oxides and ground
level ozone. As one example of stakeholder communication, we and our partners are continuing to build
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on their commitment to the Cumulative Environmental Management Association, a regional multi-stake-
holder program to assess and manage the combined effects of industry on the environmental capacity

of the Wood Buffalo area ecosystems.

With a longer-term view, Albian Sands Energy is working with a nurmnber of local stakeholders’
groups on a final reclamation plan for the Muskeg River Mine. Working in partnership with stakeholders is
providing the opportunity to integrate Traditional Environmental Knowledge, an understanding of how past
generations lived off the land. The establishment of this important dialogue is designed to create a mutually
beneficial process that will lead to a reclamation plan that will meet the end-use needs of stakeholders.

Air quality is of particular importance to the project, and has taken on greater significance with
the federal government's ratification of the Kyoto agreement. As part of a Voluntary Climate Change Action
Plan, the Joint Venture has substantially reduced emission targets for the Project. As it stands today, the
Project will be starting up with emission that are 27 per cent lower than the original case that was approved
by the AEUB. We have achieved this through the addition of cogeneration units, the use of waste hydrogen
from a neighbouring facility and a variety of process improvements. Qur goal is to further reduce emis-

sion by another 50 per cent by 2010 through a combination of energy efficiency projects.

To achieve this goal, the partmers are pursuing a multi-faceted plan, which will include energy
efficiency projects, investigation of cleaner technology, the purchase of domestic and international offsets
and tree-planting offset programs. In one offset project completed in 2001, funding was provided for the
planting of 160,000 trees in Strathcona County, the site of the Scotferd Upgrader. The planting program
is estimated to yield a CO, offset of more than 100,000 tonnes over the trees’ lifetime. In 2003, a series of
on-site workshops will be conducted to help define process improvements and emission reduction

opportunities, which can be incorporated as debottienecking and expansion activities are undertaken.

Sustainable development will continue to be a guiding principle in future expansions and mine
development. Western and its partners are capitalizing on the experience and knowledge gained
during the consultation and regulatory process for development of the current mine and upgrader. As

future development proceeds, Western and its partners will be guided by the corporate responsibility

" inherent in sustainable development, and the commitment to communication and remaining a positive

force for all stakeholders.
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis

The following discussion of financial condition and results of operations should
be read in conjunction with the Congolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
It offers Management’s anaiysis of our financial and operating resulis and
provides estimates, where possible, of owr future financial and operating

performance based on information currently available. Actual results may

31

vary from esiimates and the variances may be significant.

Overview

Western Oil Sands Inc. is a Canadian oil sands corporation which holds a 20
per cent undivided ownership interest in a multibillion dollar Joint Venture to
exploit the recoverable bitumen reserves and resources found in certain oil
sands deposits in the Athabasca region of Alberta (the “Project’’) and to pursue
other oil sands opportunities. Shell Canada Limited (“Shell”} and Chevron
Canada Limited (“ChevronTexaco") hold the remaining 60 per cent and 20
per cent undivided ownership interests in the Joint Venture, respectively. The
Project, which includes facilities owned by the Joint Venture and third parties,

measurable performance.

will use established processes to mine cil sands deposits, extract, and
upgrade the bitumen into synthetic crude oil and vacuum gas oil, or VGO.

The Joint Venture will develop the western portion of Lease 13, a large oil
sands lease in the Athabasca region of northeastern Alberta, Canada, held by
the owners and grantéd by the Government of Alberta. The western portion of
Lease 13 contains approximately 1.7 billion barrels of proved and probable
reserves and is sufficient for 30 years of non-declining bitumen production at
a rate of 155,000 barrels per day. Western is entitled to participate in future
expansion opportunities, including in respect of Lease 13 and on three other

nearby oil sands leases owned by Shell, referred to as leases 88, 89 and 90.
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Our main role is to provide construction and operating expertise for the Mine and extraction
plant. Our personnel includes 14 mining professionals who have accumulated over 350 man years of
experience derived from a variety of global mining and resource extraction projects, who provide the
management of the Mine and extraction facilities and who have the expertise toc develop growth oppor-
tunities on the remaining leases. We have employed the same proven technologies and processes in the
Athabasca Oil Sands Project that have been used successfully in other resource extraction projects

around the world.

Shell has extensive refining experience and its organization is primarily responsible for the
construction and operation of the Scotford Upgrader, as well as providing the overall Project administra-

tion and accounting functions.

ChevronTexaco provides a key management support role at both the Mine and the Upgrader
sites. ChevronTexaco is a recognized world-leader in catalyst and hydro-treatment technologies, which

are key elements in the successful upgrading of the mined bitumen.

Highlights
+ We incurred $527.5 million of capital expenditures during 2002, $519.9 million of which were direct

Project costs with the balance comprised of corporate assets.

+ During the year we issued US$450 million of corporate bonds and established new bank credit facil-
ities totalling $150 million.

* We raised $50.2 million in additional equity capital in February 2003, as a direct result of not having

received any of the insurance proceeds from our $200 million cost overrun insurance policy.

+ Construction of the Project was completed in 2002 and both the Muskeg River Mine and the Scotford

Upgrader were commissioned for start-up.

» Mining operations commenced prior to year-end 2002 following which diluted biturmen was delivered
into the Corridor Pipeline system en route to the Scotford Upgrader.

Operations

Project Update

Construction of the Project was completed in 2002 and all the major milestones have been met, despite
the challenges of the lack of skilled labour and the management of related productivity issues that were

experienced throughout the year.

Northern Alberta experienced an unprecedented demand for labour in the second half of 2001,
largely as a result of other industry projects experiencing delays in completion and continuing to utilize
craft labour that was expected to be available earlier for our Project. The restricted availability of skilled
craftsmen had an adverse impact on productivity at our project beginning in 2001. Labour productivity
continued to be lower than expected throughout 2002 and this applied significant cost pressure to the
Project throughout the year. A combination of these and other factors led to a 59 per cent increase in the
forecasted cost of the Project from the criginal budget of $3.5 billion (our share $709 million), to $5.6
billion (our share $1.12 billion). '




All units at both the Muskeg River Mine and the Scotford Upgrader have been turned over to

operations for commissioning and start-up. The first production of synthetic crude out of the Upgrader

was achieved by the end of the first quarter of 2003.
Key Project milestones achieved in the year include:

+ The ATCO Gas Pipeline supplying gas to the upstream cogeneration plant was completed during the
year. Line fill with natural gas occurred in January 2002.

» The Corridor Pipeline was completed and first diluent line fill was injected in April 2002.

* InAugust 2002, first ore was mined and processed through the primary extraction facilities producing
bitumen froth at the Muskeg River Mine.

* InAugust 2002, the Project took delivery of the first mining truck and electric shovel that will be used
in the mining operations. The Project will ultimately have a mining fleet consisting of twenty-three 400-

ton mining trucks and five electric shovels.

+ Construction, testing and commissioning of the ATCO Cogeneration Facilities at both the Muskeg
River Mine and the Scotford Upgrader were completed by the fourth quarter of 2002.

» By November 30, 2002, mechanical completion was achieved for all aspects of the Project, both at the
extraction plant and the Scotford Upgrader.

* First bitumen production at the Muskeg River Mine started on December 29, 2003, followed immedi-
ately with the shipment of diluted bitumen into the Corridor Pipeline system for delivery to the
Scotford Upgrader.

On January 6, 2003, a fire occurred in the froth treatment area at the Muskeg River Mine, caused
by a hydrocarbon leak arising from the failure of a piping connection. The fire did not cause significant
damage to major process equipment or piping systems. Damage was mainly limited to electrical cables,
instrumentation and insulation in the solvent recovery area of the froth treatment plant and subsequent
damage to pipes as a result of freezing. The original estimate of repair coss for the fire was in the order
of $75 million ($15 million our share). Although not yet determined, the final costs will be higher than the
original estimate and will include additional costs to repair the freeze damage. We expect that repairs
will be completed and production of bitumen will resume with first synthetic crude oil production from
the Scotford Upgrader scheduled by the end of the first quarter of 2003. We expect to draw on extensive

project insurance coverage to recover repair costs.

33




WESTERN OIlL SANDS 2002

34

Capital Expenditures
Construction activities have been conducted under a Joint Venture agreement whereby we participate
in the operations of the Project to our 20 per cent working interest and are responsible for 20 per cent of
the costs. During 2002, our share of Project capital expenditures totalled $519.8 million compared to
$432.8 million for 2001. These expenditures included construction costs of the Project at the Muskeg
River Mine and the Scotford Upgrader as well as direct capitalized finance and other costs of $55.3 million
in 2002, up from $10.7 million capitalized in 2001. The capitalized costs consist primarily of bond and

bank interest and stand-by fees that are being capitalized during the construction period as is consistent

- with industry practice and our policy.

In 2002 we also spent $7.6 million on corporate assets and certain other capitalized costs not
related to the Project.

We capitalized a further $15.7 million in 2002 related to our share of the costs for construction
of the Hydrogen Manufacturing Unit (HMU) at the Scotford Upgrader, up from $17.8 million in 2001. The
HMU costs are being financed by a capital lease. An amount of $2.0 million related to other accrued

finance costs was also capitalized.

Capital Assets

Since
{$millions) 2002 2001 2000 . 1999 inception
Expenditures
Muskeg River Mine 219.0 212.1 66.7 38 501.7
Scotford Upgrader 245.6 210.0 1180 5.5 519.1
Capitalized finance costs 83.0 9.5 6.4 - 68.9
Entry fee 0.4) 12 - 34.2 35.0
Shell interest ) 2.1 - - - 2.1
Project expenditures 519.9 432.8 191.1 43.6 1,187.4
Corporate assets 7.6 0.8 1.0 3.1 ) 12.5
Cash expenditures 527.8 433.6 192.1 : 46.7 1,199.9
Non cash capitalized costs
Shell Fees and interest ® - 6.4 1.3 40.0 53.7
HMU 18.7 17.8 17.3 - 50.8
Capitalized finance costs 2.0 ~ - - 20
Corporate assets - - - 11 11
Total 545.2 457.8 216.7 81.8 1,307.5

) ghell fees and acerued interest liability were repaid in full in Aprii 2002 out of proceeds of the Senior Secured Notes offering.
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The forecast cost of the Project is $5.6 billion (cur share $1.12 billion), up from $4.8 billion ($957
million our share) that was forecast at December 31, 2001. The impact of this cost increase is to increase
our proved plus probable reserve development cost from $2.85 to $3.35 per barrel. On the basis of this
level of expenditures, we have funding arrangements that are sufficient to cover our share of comrmit-
ments. In addition we believe that a portion of these increased Project costs fall within the scope and

coverage of our Cost Overrun Insurance policy. (See discussion in Financial Risks.)

Capital expenditures are expected to be lower in 2003 as construction of the Project was
completed in 2002 and we are in the commissioning and start-up phase of the Project. Capital expendi-
fures for 2003 are estimated at $65 million and represent deferred operating expenses during

commissioning and start-up, as well as maintenance capital expenditures throughout the year.

Reserves
Gilbert Laustsen Jung Associates Ltd. (GLj), an independent engineering firm located in Calgary, evalu-

35
ates our reserves. The following table summarizes the Project reserves and our share of those reserves

as at January 1, 2003, based on GLJ's forecast of escalating prices and costs:

Gross Cwnership

Project Interest Net After Present Values of Estimated Future

Reserves Reserves Royalty Net Cash Flow Before Income Taxes
(MMbbls) {MMbbls) (MMbbls) 0% 10% 15% 20%

(3% million)

Proved 1,111 222 202 2,860 1,302 972 766
Prcbable 570 114 96 1,856 340 198 134
Risked probable (50%) 285 57 48 978 170 97 67
Proved plus 50% probable 1,396 279 250 3,938 1,472 1,069 833
Proved plus probable 1,881 336 298 4,916 1,642 1,167 900

This analysis by GLJ includes only those reserves from the western portion of Lease 13, which is
the initial area being mined by the Joint Venture. These reserves will provide a reserve life of approximately
30 years based on anticipated bitumen production rates of 155,000 barrels per day (our share 31,000
barrels per day).

In addition, we are entitled to participate in expansion opportunities with the Owners, on the
remainder of Lease 13 and on three nearby oil sands leases owned by Shell, namely Leases 88, 89 and

90. The following table outlines the potential resources available under these expansion opportunities:

Total Resources Western's Share
Area {MMbbls) (MMbbls)
Remainder of Lease 13 and Lease 90 3,200 €640
Leases 88 and 89 3,900 780

7,100 1,420
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Financial Results
Apart from our interest in the Athabasca Oil Sands Project, we have no other assets nor do we have any
other on-going operations. Qur operating activities commenced with Project start-up, which occurred at
the Muskeg River Mine in December 2002. We expect to be moving into commercial production in the
second quarter of 2003 following production of synthetic crude oil which occurred in the first quarter of
2003 and will be reporting operating results for the balance of 2003 in our quarterly interim reports.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2002 totalled $5.7 million (2001 - $5.3 million). The increase
is primarily due to the addition of marketing and administrative personnel as we prepare to enter our
operating phase. General and administrative expenses are expected to increase modestly in 2003

commensurate with additional staff or consultants that may be required throughout the year.

Rovyalties

The current royalty system for oil sands consists of an initial royalty of cne per cent of the gross revenue
on the bitumen produced (based on its value prior to upgrading) until we have recovered our share of
all the capital costs associated with the Muskeg River Mine and Extraction plant, together with a return
on capital equal to the Canadian federal long-term bond rate. After full capital cost recovery, the royalty
shall be the greater of one per cent of the gross revenue on the bitumen produced and 25 per cent of net
revenue on the bitumen produced. We will be paying royalties at the one per cent rate once we start
producing. We estimate that payout will not be achieved for several years, after which we will be paying
royalties at the higher rates. The timing of this will depend in part on the prices we receive for our
production as well any additional capital costs incurred through expansion activities.

Interest Expense

During 2002 we incurred $48.1 million in interest expense on our debt obligations (2001 - $11.0 million).

~ These included the long-term bonds, the bridge facility, our other bank facilities and the Shell fees loan.

This debt has been used to finance construction costs and, accordingly, all interest is being capitalized
until the Project reaches commercial production, which we expect by the second quarter of 2003. (See
Capital Assets.) Capitalized interest will be written off over the term of the Project. Once commercial

production is attained, interest costs will be expensed in the period to which it relates.
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Income Taxes
Large Corporations Tax increased to $2.9 million from $1.5 million last year as a direct result of the
expansion of our capital base.

As we have not had any operating revenues to date, we have not yet earned taxable net income.
At December 31, 2002, we had approximately $1.2 billion of loss carry forwards and tax pools. In addi- a1
tion, we had $8.7 million of financing issue costs, which can be used to offset future taxable income. The
potential future benefit relating to the loss carry forwards and share issue costs has been recorded in the
financial statements, resulting in a future income tax recovery of $22.5 million. This asset is offset by a
future income tax liability of $23.0 million arising from the renunciation of deductions for flow-through
shares, resulting in a net future tax liability of $0.5 million, with share capital being reduced by the $23.0

million tax effect of the renunciations.

Tax Pools

Decermber 31
{% thousands) 2002
Canadian Exploration Expense $ 45,214
Canadian Development Expense 15,993
Canadian Exploration and Development Overhead Expense 2,704
Cumulative Eligible Capital ' 4,039
Capital Cost Allowance 25,632
Accelerated Capital Cost Allowance 1,031,616
Total $ 1,125,198
Net Loss

Corporate expenses totalled $28.6 million for 2002 and included an amount of $22.8 million representing
the one-time write-off of deferred financing costs related to credit faciliies that were replaced by the
US$450 million Senior Secured Notes offering in April 2002. Excluding the write-off, we incurred expenses
of $5.9 million, compared to $5.5 million in 2001, an increase that reflects the expected growth in corpo-
rate activities as we move towards start-up. As we do not yet have revenues from on-going operations to
offset these costs, our net loss was comprised primarily of the corporate expenses net of a future income
tax recovery arising from the recognition of the tax benefit relating to loss carry forwards. The net loss
attributable to Common Shareholders for 2002 was $10.3 million (80.21 per share) compared to $7.0
million ($0.17 per share) for the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Quarterly Information

Q1 . Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
($millions, except per share amounts)
Capital Expenditures $ 1100 § 1332 $ 1453 § 139.0 521.5
Long-term Debt 418.5 683.4 713.6 775.8 775.8
Cash Flow from Operations .7 1.9) (1.8) @.2) (8.8)
Cash Flow per Share (0.03) (0.04) (0.04) (0.07) (0.18)
Loss Attributable to Common Shareholders (1.8) (24.7) (1.8 18.0 (10.3)
Loss per Share - $ (004) $ (051) $ (0.04) S 0.38 0.21)

2001

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
($millions, except per share amounts)
Capital Expenditures $ 7189 $ 1i74 $ 1174 § 1209 433.6
Long-term Debt - 1108 1978 2185 2785
Cash Flow from Operations (1.2) 1.3) (1.8) @17 6.8)
Cash Flow per Share (0.03) (0.03) (0.04) (0.08) 0.16)
Loss Attributable to Common Shareholders (1.3} (1.3) (1.8) 2.8) (1.0)
Loss per Share $ (003) & (003) % (004 $ (007 ©.17)

Financial Position

It was our stated intention at the start of the year to replace our senior credit facility with long-term debt
financing. In the second quarter of 2002 we met this objective with the issuance of US$450 million of
Senior Secured Notes, bearing interest at 8.375%, and maturing on May 1, 2012. The net proceeds of this
offering were used to repay all amounts outstanding under our existing $535 million Senior Credit
Facility, repay all amounts due to Shell and to fund our share of remaining construction costs for the

Project. The $535 million Senior Credit Facility was cancelled upon repayment.

In conjunction with the offering, we established a new $100 million senior credit facility with a
syndicate of chartered banks; $75 million of which will primarily be used to fund the first year's debt
service under the offering as well as construction completion costs; the remaining $25 million is for
working capital and letter of credit requirements. At December 31, 2002, $45.0 million had been drawn
under this facility, with letters of credit issued in the amount of $15.4 million.

We maintain our $88 million bridge note purchase facility, due October 2003, with a Canadian
chartered bank. At December 31, 2002 the full $88 millicn was drawn and outstanding on this facility
(2001 - $NIL). The amounts drawn under this facility are deemed to consist of both an equity and a
liability component, recognized as convertible notes in the financial statements. The initial carrying
amount of the equity component is adjusted for accretion to bring it up to the stated principal amount of
the facility at maturity. This accretion is charged to the deficit.

In November 2002, we established a new $50 million working capital facility with a syndicate of
Canadian chartered banks, primarily to fund our working capital requirements during start-up of the
Project. At December 31, 2002, $20 million had been drawn under this facility. This working capital facility
was increased to $75 million in January 2003 with the addition of another bank to the syndicate.
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Equity Financing

In February 2003, we issued 2,050,000 Common Shares at a price of $24.50 per share for gross
proceeds of approximately $50.2 million. The Common Shares wére offered to the public on a bought-
deal basis through a syndicate of underwriters led by TD Securities Inc. Net proceeds from the issue
were used to fund remaining costs for the Project and related expenses, for general corporate purposes

and to reduce some of our short-term borrowings.

Over the past three years one of our primary objectives has been to fund our share of construc-
tion costs and to ensure that the timing of proceeds from financings coincides with the funding
requirements for the Project. We have consciously structured our financing activities to maximize the
value for our sharehclders by minimizing the amount of equity issued and to issue equity at successively
higher prices. These activities have resulted in 22 separate financing transactions over the past three
years totalling $2.2 billion of gross proceeds and $1.5 billion net of re-financings. The chart above and
accompanying notes provide a snapshot of the debt and equity transactions that have allowed us to

participate in this exciting Project.

a. InJune 1999, we issued 11 common shares at nominal value to incorporate the Company and arranged a
private placement of 6,096,343 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares, 278,950 Class A Warrants and 823,707
Class B Special Warrants for aggregate gross proceeds of $21.0 million,

b. In July 1999, we arranged a private placement of 8,330,000 Units, each Unit consisting of one Non-voting
Convertible Equity Share and three call obligations, for gross proceeds of $41.7 million. In conjunction with this
offering, the agent for the placement received a commission of 138,071 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares
valued at $1.6 million and a fee for services in conmection with the acquisition of cur ownership interest in the

Project was paid to the agent through the issuance of a further 200,000 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares.

c. In August 1999, we arranged a private placement of 2,750,000 Units, each Unit consisting of one Non-voting

Convertible Equity Share and 4.5 call obligations, for gross proceeds of $20.6 million. '

d. In November 1999, we arranged a private placement of 4,705,882 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares at
a price of $8.50 per share for proceeds of $40.0 million.

These first four equity transactions were completed in December 1999.

e. InJuly 2000, we established a $100 million bridge facility with a Canadian Chartered Bank. This bridge facility
was in place untl September 28, 2000, when we completed an equity offering of 10,709,076 Non-voting
Convertible Equity Shares, of which 1,451,084 were issued on a flow-through basis, for aggregate gross
proceeds of $130.0 million. At this time the bridge facility was cancelled.
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f. In December 2000, we completed our Initial Public Offering on to the Toronto Stock Exchange, which
involved the issuance of 4,000,000 Common Shares for gross proceeds of $60.0 rrn'jlion.

g. On February 1, 2001, we filed two prospectuses qualifying the issuance of an aggregate of 34,033,029
Common Shares, 494,224 Class A Warrants and 465,188 Class B Warrants issuable upon the conversion or
exercise, as the case may be, of the Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares, Class A Special Warrants, Class
B Special Warrants and Warrant Options issued in prior years by the Corporation. Subsecpuently, in February
and March 2001, the 465,188 Class B Warrants were exercised into Commeon Shares for aggregate gross
proceeds of $3.7 million.

h. On March 14, 2001, we completed a private placement of 666,667 Class D Preferred Shares, Series A, for
gross proceeds of $12 million. Each Class D Preferred Share is convertible into one Common Share prior to
redemption, which is at our option at any time at a price equal to their issue price plus a cumulative dividend
of 12 per cent per year compounded semi-annually untl January 1, 2007, increasing by 3 per cent per

40 quarter thereafter to a maximum of 24 per cent per year.

i. On April 27, 2001, we completed a private placement of 625,000 Common Shares at $16.00 per share issued
on a flow-through basis, for gross proceeds of $10.0 million.

j. We entered into a bridge financing arrangement in March 2001 for up to $30 million, and a second bridge
financing arrangernent in June 2001 for $30 million, both of which were considered as equity for purposes of
the Senior Credit Facility. These two bridge facilities totalling $120 million were required to be repaid by
October 31, 2001.

k. We satisfied the conditions precedent on our $535 million Senior Credit Facility in June 2001 and commenced
drawdowns under this facility to meet our ongoing commitments to the construction of the Project. The condi-
tions precedent that were required were customary for faciliies of this nature, and included a requirement
that an aggregate of $400 million of our equity capital be expended on the Athabasca Oil Sands Project. The
Senior Credit Facility was available for funding the budgeted construction costs of the Project of up to $485
million. Additionally, the Senior Credit Facility was available for pre;completion debt servicing, which
included interest costs and fees under the Senior Credit Facility, of up to $50 million. Under the terms of the
Senior Credit Facility, we were cbligated to obtain, and continue to maintain, $200 million of cost overrun
insurance. The Senior Credit Facility was repaid in full and cancelled upon completion of the US$450 million
Senior Secured Notes offering in April 2002.

1. On July 25, 2001, we completed an equity private placement to certain of our existing shareholders of
3,404,729 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares at $13.00 and $14.00 per share, together with 725,589 Non-
voting Convertible Equity Shares issued on a flow-through basis at $15.60 per share, for aggregate gross

. proceeds of $57.9 million. In conjunction with this offering, 2,589,641 Call Cbligations were issued to certain
subscribers, whereby each Call Obligastion is exercisable into one Non-voting Convertible Equity Share and
one Warrant to purchase Non-voting Convertible Equity Share upon the payment of $13.00 per Call
Obligation. These call obligations are exercisable until March 31, 2003 at our discretion and the underlying
warrant is exercisable, at the market price on the day we exercise our rights under the call obligations, for

a period of four years after the call cbligation exercise. There is a requirement imposed by the TSE to
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undertake a rights offering prior to exercising any of these Call Obligations. At this time, certain share-
holders also undertock to subscribe for 725,590 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares on a flow-through
basis at $15.60 per share, which were subscribed for and issued in November 2001.

m. On October 25, 2001, we established a new $88 million two-year bridge note purchase facility (“Bridge
Facility”) with a Canadian Chartered Bank. The notes issuable pursuant to draws on the Bridge Facility are
convertible, at maturity at our option, and in the event of a default at the option of the bank into Common
Shares. This Bridge Facility replaced the existing $90 million and $30 million bridge facilities and was
required in order to satisfy the sufficiency of funding criteria of the Senior Credit Facility, in order to demon-
strate that we can meet our funding obligations to the Project. This Bridge Facility was fully drawn upon as at
December 31, 2002.

n. On October 25, 2001, we completed a rights offering to existing shareholders of 3,384,835 Commeon Shares
at a price of $14.00 per share for gross proceeds of $47.4 million.

o. In November 2001, we completed a private placement of 150,000 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares 41
issued on a flow-through basis at $17.30 per share for gross proceeds of $2.6 million. At this time, the under-
takings for 725,590 Non-voting Convertible Equity Shares on a flow-through basis from july were also
subscribed to, for gross proceeds of $11.3 million. In addiu'dn to the new equity raised, another prospectus
was filed on November 27, 2001, which qualified for issuance an aggregate of 5,005,908 Common Shares
issuable upon conversion of all the Non-voting Convertible Ecuity Shares that were issued in 2001.

p. In April 2002, we completed the issuance of US$450 million of Senior Secured Notes, bearing interest fixed at
8.3715%, and maturing on May 1, 2012 The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay all amounts
outstanding under the existing Senior Credit Facility and repay all amounts due to Shell Canada Limited, with
the balance of the proceeds placed in a trust account, which were used for funding the Company's share of
remaining construction costs for the oil sands project. The Senior Credit Facility was cancelled upon repayment.

In conjunction with the offering, we established a new $100 million credit facility ;lviﬂl a syndicate of chartered
banks; $75 million of which will primarily be used to fund the first year's debt service under the offering as well
as construction cormpletion costs; the remaining $25 million is for working capital and letter of credit require-
ments. At December 31, 2002, $45.0 million had been drawn under this facility, with letters of credit also issued
for $15.4 million.

q. In November 2002, we established a new $50 million Working Capital Facility with a syndicate of Canadian
chartered banks, primarily to fund our working capital requirements during start-up of the Project. This
facility was increased to $75 million in January 2003 with the addition of another bank to the syndicate.

r. Subsequent to year-end, we completed the issnance of 2,050,000 Common Shares at a price of $24.50 per
share for gross proceeds of approximately $50.2 million. The Common Shares were offered to the publicon

a bought-deal basis through a syndicate of underwriters led by TD Securities Inc. Net proceeds from the

- issue will be used to fund rémaining costs for the Project and related expenses, for general corporate

purposes and may be used to reduce some of our short-term borrowings.
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At December 31, 2002, our equity capital consisted of:

Issued and Outstanding:

Common Shares ) 41,742,471
Class D Preferred Shares, Series A 666,667
48,409,138

Outstanding:
Class A Warrarnts 494,224
Stock Options 1,329,000
Fully diluted number of shares 50,232,362

Analysis of Cash Resources

‘We have been financing Project costs out of equity and debt proceeds throughout 2002. Our cash
balances decreased by $38.6 million during 2002 from $53.0 million at December 31, 2001 to $14.4
million at December 31, 2002. Cash inflows were comprised of $494.3 million of long-term debt issued
during the year (net of repayments), $86.7 million of convertible debt issued in the year (net of interest
paid) and $2.0 million of equity capital (net of issue costs) raised throughout the year. Cash outflows
included capital expenditures of $527.5 million, debt issue costs and deferred charges of $17.9 million,
a $13.9 million increase in working capital throughout the year and cash corporate expenses of $8.6
million. In addition, we repaid a liability owed to Shell Canada Limited of $53.7 million.

Risk and Success Factors Relating to Oil Sands

We face a number of risks that we need to manage in conducting our business affairs. The following
discussion identifies some of the key areas of exposure for us and, where applicable, sets forth meas-
ures undertaken to reduce or mitigate these exposures. A complete discussion of risk factors that may

impact our business is provided in our Annual Information Form.

Business Risks
We are currently a single purpose company, our only asset being our investment in oil sands through the
Project. As such, all capital expenditures are directly or indirectly related to oil sands construction and

development and 100 per cent of revenues will be derived from oil sands operations.

At this stage, the main risks to the Project executicn include the potential for reduced produc-
tivity and increased costs that can be associated with weather or unforeseen disruptions in the supply of
labour. While the design of the Project facilities mainly utilizes established technologies, the commis-
sioning and start-up of the new facilities could result in delays in achieving the targeted production
capacity of 155,000 barrels per day by the third quarter of 2003.

‘We may be faced with competition from other industry participants in the oil sands business.
This could take the form of competition for skilled people, increased demands on the Fort McMurray
infrastructure (housing, roads, schools, etc.), or higher prices for the products and services required to
- operate and maintain the plant.
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Our relationship with our employees and provincial building trade unions is important to our
future success because poor productivity and work disruptions have the potential to adversely affect the
Project, whether in construction or in operations. New labour agreements with the building trades were
ratified in August 2001. While we are not a direct party to these agreements, they impact us as these trades
have supplied the labour during the construction phase of the Project. Although we are now entering an
operating phase we have significant plans for expansion and the strong working relationship the Project’s
management has developed with the trade unions will be an important factor in our future activities.

The Project depends upon successful operation of faciliies owned and operated by third
parties. The Joint Venture partners are party to certain agreements with third parties to provide for,

among other things, the following services and utilities:

« pipeline transportation to be provided through the Corridor Pipeline;

+ electricity and steam to be provided to the Mine and the extraction plant from the Muskeg River

cogeneration facility;
* transportation of natural gas to the Muskeg River cogeneration facility by the ATCO pipeline;
* hydrogen to be provided to the Upgrader from the HMU and Dow Chemicals Canada Inc., or Dow; and
*+ electricity and steam to be provided to the Upgrader from the Upgrader cogeneration facility.

All of these third party arrangements are critical for the successful start-up and operation of the

Project. Disruptions in respect of these facilities could have an adverse impact on future financial results.

Once the Project is operational, we will be subject to the operational risks inherent in the oil
sands business. We intend to sell our share of synthetic crude oil production to refineries in North
America. These sales will compete with the sales of both synthetic and conventional crude oil. There exist
other suppliers of synthetic crude oil and there are several additional projects being contemplated: If
undertaken and completed, these projects will result in a significant increase in the supply of synthetic
crude oil to the market. In addition, not all refineries are able to process or refine synthetic crude oil.
There can be no assurance that sufficient market demand will exist at all times to absorb our share of the

Project’s light synthetic crude oil production.

As a partner in the Athabasca Oil Sands Joint Venture, we actively participate in operational risk
management programs implemented by the Joint Venture to mitigate the above risks. Our exposure to

operational risks is also managed by maintaining appropriate levels of insurance.
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Financial Risks

‘We must finance our share of the construction costs of the Project in the face of uncertain debt and equity
capital markets and in a volatile commodity-pricing environment. Should the costs of the Project exceed
the available financial resources and we are unable to establish sufficient funding to complete the Project
under the current debt arrangements, additional financing may be required.

On the basis of the current estimate of costs for construction of the Project, we have funding
arrangements that are sufficient to cover our share of costs. An increase in the costs for completion of the
Project beyond the current estimate may result in us raising additional equity or debt in order to meet

our share of cost commitments.

As part of our financing plan, we established a cost overrun/project delay insurance policy in
the amount of $200 million. This insurance policy covers certain costs, expenses and losses of revenue
through the construction period arising from causes beyond our control and including: (i) costs and
expenses or loss of revenues arising from a delay in achieving a guaranteed production level; (ii) costs 45
and expenses incurred in connection with the modification, repair or replacement of equipment or mate-
rial, which are directly related to achieving guaranteed production levels; and (iii) escalation in Project
costs beyond the budgeted Project costs, which are directly related to achieving guaranteed production
levels. In effect, the program provides coverage for increased costs for the project of up to $200 million
to the extent the increased costs are incurred to meet bitumen production levels of 185,000 barrels per

day as contemplated in the initial design of the project.

This insurance policy will mitigate a portion of the cost increases for the project beyond the
initial project budget of $709 million (our share). We engaged claims consultants in the first quarter of
2002, and by year-end we had filed interim claims for cost overruns totalling $435 million and interim
claims for loss of revenues arising from delays in production totalling $9.3 million. The forecasted total
claim for loss of revenues, to be submitted prior to achieving commercial production in the second
quarter of 2003, is expected to be in excess of $100 million. To date, we have not received any proceeds
from the insurance policy and no amounts have been reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
We have been frustrated by the lack of response on the part of the insurers and in January 2003 we were
forced to raise $50.2 million of additional equity financing as a direct result of these delays. While we
hope that insurance proceeds will be forthcoming, further delays may put additional pre.ésure on our

financial condition.
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In addition to the cost overrun insurance obtained by us, the Joint Venture partners have obtained
insurance to protect against certain risks of loss during the construction of the Owners' facilities, which
includes the Mine, extraction plant and the Upgrader. The insurance is typical for a project of this nature.

Upon commencement of operations, we intend to obtain insurance designed to protect our
ownership interest against losses or damage to the Owners' facilities, to preserve our operating income

and to protect against our risk of loss to third parties and which is reasonably obtainable.

Once in production, our financial results will be dependent upon the prevailing price of crude
oil. Oil prices fluctuate significantly in response to supply and demand factors beyond our control, which
could have an impact on future financial results.

As at December 31, 2002 we have entered into various commodity pricing agreements
designed to mitigate exposure to the volatility of crude oil prices in Canadian dollars. The agreements

are summarized as follows:

Notional Hedge Price Unrealized

Volume Period Received Gain/(Loss)

WTI Swaps 4,500 bbls/d April 1, 2003 to March 31, 2004 Cdn$39.72 ($1.1 million)
WTI Swaps 8,500 bbls/d April 1, 2004 to March 31, 2005 Cdn$36.95 ($1.5 million)

We do not expect that the adoption of the new CICA Accounting Guideline 13 "“Hedging
Relationships”, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2003, will have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Any prolonged period of low oil prices could result in a decision by the Joint Venture partners
to suspend or reduce production. Any such suspension or reduction of production would result in a
corresponding substantial decrease in our future revenues and earnings and could expose us to signifi-
cant additional expense as a result of certain long-term contracts. In addition, because natural gas
comprises a substantial part of operating costs, any prolonged pericd of high natural gas prices could
negatively impact our future financial results.

We will also be exposed to fluctuations in changes in cwrrency and interest rates, which may

impact our financial results and our ability to service our debt financing.

To mitigate our exposure to these financial risks, we will be establishing a financial risk manage-

ment program in consultation with our Board of Directors prior to commencement of operations.
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Environmental Risks

Canada is a signatory to the December 1997 Kyoto Treaty with respect to instituting reductions to green-
house gases. The Project will be a significant producer of some greenhouse gases covered by the treaty.
While specific measures for meeting Canada’s commitments have not been developed and the Kyoto
treaty may be modified or nullified, actions taken under the treaty may adversely impact the Project. It
cannot be assured that future environmental approvals, laws or regulations will not adversely impact the
Joint Venture partners’ ability to operate the Project or increase or maintain production or will not increase
unit costs of production. Equipment from suppliers that can meet future emnission standards may not be
available on an economic basis, or at all, and other methods of reducing emissions to required levels may
significantly increase operating costs or reduce output. There is a risk that the Canadian federal and/or
provincial governments could pass legislation that would tax such emissions or require, directly or indi-
rectly, reductions in such emissions produced by energy industry participants, including the Project.

We will be responsible for compliance with terms and conditions set forth in the Project’s envi-
ronmental and reguiatory approvals and all laws and regulations regarding the decommissioning and
abandonment of the Project and reclamation of its lands. The costs related to these activities may be
substantially higher than anticipated. It is not possible to accurately predict these costs since they will be
a function of regulatory requirements at the time and the value of the equipment salvaged. In addition, to
the extent we do not meet the minimum credit rating required under the Joint Venture agreement, we
must establish and fund a reclamation trust fund. We currently do not hold the minimum credit rating.
Even if we do hold the minimum credit rating, in the future it may be determined that it is prudent or be
required by applicable laws or regulations to establish and fund one or more additional funds to provide
for payment of future decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation costs. Even if we conclude that

the establishment of such a fund is prudent cr required, we may lack the financial resources to do so.

The Joint Venture partners have established programs to monitor and report on environmental
performance including reportable incidents, spills and compliance issues. In addition, comprehensive
quarterly reports are prepared covering all aspects of health, safety and sustainable development on
Lease 13 and the Upgrader to ensure that the Project is in compliance with all laws and regulations and

that management are accountable for performance set by the Joint Venture parmers.

Outlook ‘

Key milestones for 2003 include revenues from production of synthetic crude expected to commence in
the first quarter of 2003 when the Upgrader facilities will be brought on stream and production will ramp-
up through the second half of 2003. Full bitumen production of 165,000 barrels per day (31,000 barrels
per day net to us) is scheduled to occur by the third quarter of 2003.

Non-bitumen feedstocks supplied to the Upgrader to aid in the upgrading process will add
an additional 35,000 barrels per day to the Project's ocutput. Our share of total output will be 38,000
barrels per day. We are committed to sell 12,000 barrels per day of Vacuum Gas Oit (VGO) to Shell at
a fixed differential to market. We will be marketing the balance of our production volurnes for our own

account to various refineries in North America.
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The following table details the sensitivities of cash flow and net earnings per share to certain
relevant operating factors during 2004, which will be our first year of full production. The base case upon
which the sensitivities are reflected assumes bitumen production for us of 31,000 barrels per day,
constant WTI at US$22.00 per barrel, a foreign exchange rate of US$0.65 per Cdn$, a constant Alberta
gas cost of Cdn$4.51 per thousand cubic feet and reflects the additional shares issued in the February

2003 equity offering.
Basic Basic
. Cash Flow Cash Flow Earnings Earnings
Variable Variation ($millions) Per Share (3millions) Per Share
Production 1,000 bbls/day $ 1217 3 0.24 $ 7.60 $ 0.1
Qil Prices USD $1.00 $ 1723 $ 0.34 $ 11.03 $ 0.22
Gas Prices $0.10/Mct $ 0.71 $ 0.01 $ 046 - % 0.01
Foreign Exchange ¢ USD/CDN .01 $ 5.62 3 0.11 $ 3.60 $ 0017

1) Excludes unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on long-term monetary iterns. The impact of the Canadian dollar strengthening
by US $0.01 would be an increase of $10.5 million in net earnings based on December 31, 2002 US dollar donominated debt levels.

Our vision is to complete this Project and then expand our production base through develop-

" ment of the remaining oil sands leases we have access to under the Joint Venture agreement with our

parmers. The initial Project will develop a total of 1.7 billion barrels (336 million barrels is our share) out
of a total resource base on Leases 13, 88, 89 and 90 estimated at 8.8 billion barrels (1.8 billion barrels is

our share). Our pariners or we have not yet begun development of the remaining resources on our

$25,000

428,000

225,000

188,000

leases, but we have begun evaluating long-term development plans. Any such development plans would
be subject to approval by the board of directors of each Joint Venture partner, various regulatory agen-
cies and other stakeholders, and would recuire significant funding obligations.

The potential development plans include two areas of expansion. Firstly, an optimization and
expansion of the Muskeg River Mine and Lease 90 has the pdtential to increase bitumen production to
225,000 barrels per day (45,000 barrels per day net to us) and would likely take place in the 2006 to 2007
time frame. Secondly, there is an opportunity for a new stand-alone mine on the eastern portion of Lease 13
and Leases 88 and 89, known as the Jackpine Mine, which would add a potential 300,000 barrels per day
(60,000 barrels per day net to us) of bitumen production. The Jackpine Mine development would follow
the expansion of the Muskeg River Mine. The Joint Venture Owners filed a Public Disclosure Document in
respect of these development opportunities on August 8, 2001. The graph below ouflines the potential effect

on bitumen production per day assuming the development plans are undertaken successfully.

Development Potential
(barxels per day)
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Management’s Report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the annual report are the
responsibility of management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management

in accordance with the accounting policies described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial statermnents have been prepared within acceptable
limits of materiality and are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles appro-
priate in the circumstances. The financial information contained elsewhere in the annual report has been

reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Management has developed and maintains systems of internal accounting controls, policies and
procedures in order to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of the financial records and the

. safeguard of assets.

External auditors, appointed by the shareholders of the Company, have examined the consoli-
dated financial statements and have expressed an opinion on the statements. Their report is included

with the consolidated financial statements. 49

The Board of Directors of the Company has established an Audit Committee, consisting of
non-management directors, to review these statements with management and the auditors. The
Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements on the recommendation of the

Audit Committee.

K\ i

Guy J. Turcotte David A. Dyck
President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Calgary, Canada

. February 14, 2003




4—«

WESTERN OIL BANDS 2002

Auditors’ Report

To The Shareholders of Western Qil Sands Inc.
‘We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Western Qil Sands Inc. as at December 31, 2002 and
2001 and the consclidated statements of operations and deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’'s management. Our responsibility is

to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation,

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
50 financial position of Western Oil Sands Inc. as at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the results of its oper-
ations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles.

m 27
Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Canada
February 14, 2003
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 ($ thousands) 2002 2001
Assets
Current Assets
Cash $ 14,428 3 52,973
Accounts receivable 6,624 7,228
Inventory 4,175 -
. 25,227 60,201
Capital Assets Mote 3) 1,306,989 761,939
Deferred Charges (Note 4) 27,422 32,254
1,334,411 794,193
$ 1,359,638 $ 854,394
Liabilities
Current Liabiliies
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 40,953 $ 51,222
Convertible Notes (ot §) 4,085 - 51
45,008 51,222
Long-term Liabilities
Long-term Debt (Note 6) 715,820 279,481
Other (Ncte 8) 50,858 88,825
Future Income Taxes @ote 7) 454 -
827,133 368,306
872,141 419,528
Shareholders’ Equity
Share Capital (Note 9) 426,278 447,303
Convertible Notes (Note 5) 83,845 -
Deficit (22,7123) ) (12,437)
487,497 434,866

$ 1,359,638 3 854,394

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Approved by the Board of Directors:

A ket Ltk &

Robert G. Puchniak Brian F. MacNeill
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficit

Year ended December 31 (§ thousands, except amounts per share) 2002 2001
Corporate Expenses
General and administrative $ 5,698 $ 5,310
Depreciation 182 170
Write-off of deferred financing costs 22,789 -
Loss before Income Taxes - 28,6848 5,480
Income Taxes @ote 7) (19,646) 1,835
Net Loss 3 8,003 $ 1,018
Charge for Convertible Notes (Note 5) 1,283 -
Loss Attributable to Comrmon Shareholders 10,288 7018
Deficit at Beginning of Year 12,437 5422
Deficit at End of Year $ 23,723 $ 12,437
Loss per share (Note 9) — Basic and diluted , 8 Q.21 $ 0.17

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
52
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 ($ thousands) 2002 2001

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating Activities

Net loss $ (9,003) $ (1,015)
Non-cash items:

“Write-off of deferred financing costs 22,758 -
Future Income Tax recovery (22,851) ~
Depreciation 183 170

Cash from Operations (8,603) (6,845)
Increase in non-cash working capital (Note 14) (7,868) ' -
(16,568) (6,845)
Financing Activities )
Issue of share capital 1,977 143,978
Issue of long-term debt 773,840 279,481
Repayment of long-term debt (279,481) : - 53
Deferred financing costs (17,927) (16,3686) .
Issue of convertible notes 88,000 -
Charge for convertible notes (1,283) -
Repayment of long-term liabilities (83,687) (2,152)
Cash Generated 511,438 404,941
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (827,541) (433,604)
Restricted cash - 12,601
Increase in non-cash working capital (Nete 14) (5,818) (18,231)
Cash Invested (533,418) (439,234)
Decrease in Cash (38,545) (41,138)
Cash at Beginning of Year 52,973 94,111

Cash at End of Year $ 14,428 $ 52,973

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular dollar amounts in $ thousands)

1. Business of the Corporation

Western Oil Sands Inc. (the “Corporation”) was incorporated on June 18, 1999 under the laws of the Province of
Alberta. The Corporation was created to acquire a 20 per cent working interest in an oil sands project in the Athabasca
region of northeast Alberta (“the Oil Sands Project”). The oil sands project will consist of direct or indirect participa-
ton in the design, construction and operation of mining, extracting, transporting and upgrading of oil sands deposits.

2. Summary of Accounting Pelicies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary corpo-
rations and limited partnership, 8520068 Alberta Limited, Western Oil Sands, L.P.,, Western Oil Sands Finance Inc.
(inactive) and Western Qil Sands (USA) Inc. (inactive). The Corporation’s oil sands activities are conducted jointly with
others. These financial staternents reflect only the Corporation's proportionate interest in such activiges.

(b) Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reperting period.

(c) Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated provisions for depreciation, depletion and amortization.
Capitalized costs include costs specifically related to the acquisition, exploration, development and construction of the
oil sands project. Capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or conditions indicate that their net
carrying amount may not be recoverable from estimated future cash flows.

Depletion over the life of proved and probable reserves is on a unit of production basis, commencing when the facil-
iles are substantially complete and after commercial production has begun. Capital assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their useful lives, except for lease acquisition costs and certain mine assets, which are amor-
tized and depreciated over the life of proved and probable reserves, The estimated, useful lives of depreciable capital

assets are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computers 3 years

(d) Future Site Restoration
Estimated future site restoration and reclamation costs are provided on a unit of production method based on esti-
mated proved and probable reserves. Actual costs are charged against the provision when incurred.

(e} Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the transac-
tion dates. Monetary assets and liabilides denominated in a foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars at
rates of exchange in effect at the end of the period while non-monetary assets and liabilifies are translated at histor-

ical rates of exchange.
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(f) Stock-based Compensation Plan

The Corporation has a stock-based compensation plan which is described in Note 10. Effective January 1, 2002, the
Corporation adopted CICA 3870 “Stock-based Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments”. The new standard
is applied prospectively to all stock-based payments to non-employees and to employee awards that are direct
awards of stock, stock appreciation rights and similar awards to be settled in cash. The new standard is applied to all

grants of stock options on or after January 1, 2002. No compensation expense is recognized for the plan when the
stock options are issued. Any consideration received on exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.

{g) Convertible Notes

Amounts drawn under the Note Purchase Facility are deemed to consist of both an equity and a liability component in
accordance with Canadian GAAP. The initial carrying amount of the equity component is adjusted for accretion to bring
it up to the stated principal amount of the Note Purchase Facility at maturity. This accretion is charged to the Deficit.

(h) Derivative Financial Instruments
Finandial instruments are used by the Corporation to hedge its exposure to market risks relating to commodity prices and
foreign currency exchange rates. The Corporation’s policy is not to utilize financial instruments for speculative purposes. 85

The Corporation formaily documnents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its
risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking
all derivatives to specific assets and liabiliies on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted
transactions. The Corporation also assesses, both at the hedges’ inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of hedged items. '

The Corporation enters into hedges with respect to a portion of its oil production to achieve a more predictable cash
flow by reducing its exposure to price and currency fluctuations. These transactions are entered into with major
Canadian financial institutions. Gains and losses from these financial instruments are recognized in oil revenues as the
hedge sale transactions occur,

(i) Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of average cost and net realizable value.

(j) Loss per Share

The Corporation uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effects of stock options and other dilutive
instruments. Due to losses for the years presented, all incremental shares have been excluded from the diluted earn-
ings per share calculation as the effect would be anti-dilutive.

(k) Cash
Cash presented in the consolidated financial statements is comprised of cash and cash equivalents and includes short-
term investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased.

(1) Pension Plan .
The Corporation has a defined contribution pension plan. Expense is recognized as payments are made or entilements
are earned. Expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $0.09 million (December 31, 2001 - $0.2 million).

{(m) Comparative amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.
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3. Capital Assets

zoo2 2001
Oil Sands Project $ 1,243,061 $ 721,043
Qil Sands Project assets under capital lease 80,859 35,138
Corporate Assets 13,601 6,098
’ 1,307,521 762,279

Less: accumulated depreciation {832) (340)
$ 1,306,989 $ 761,939

It is the Corporation’s policy to capitalize carrying costs including interest expense for capital assets acquired,
constructed or developed over time. As at December 31, 2002, $63.6 million of net interest expense (December 31,
2001 - $15.5 million) has been capitalized as part of the cost of the ¢il sands project. Cash interest paid for the year
ended December 31, 2002 was $40.6 million (December 31, 2001 — $6.7 million). Cash interest received for the year
ended December 31, 2002 was $2.3 million (December 31, 2001 - $2.9 million).

4. Deferred Charges
2002 2001
Deferred charges $ 27,422 $ 32254

Deferred charges include primarily debt financing costs that have been incurred in establishing the Corporation’s
various debt facilities. These amounts will be amortized over the term of the related debt facilities following start-up
of the oil sands project.

5. Convertible Notes

On October 25, 2001 the Corporaticn established an $88 million two-year Note Purchase Facility (the “Note Purchase
Facility") with a Canadian chartered bank. The notes issuable pursuant to draws on the Note Pufchase Facility are
convertible, at maturity at the option of the Corporation and in the event of a default at the option of the banl, into
Common Shares of the Corporation. If converted, the conversion would be transacted at 95 per cent of the weighted
average trading price on the TSX for the twenty days prior to conversion. The maturity date is October 25, 2003.
Borrowings under the Note Purchase Facility bear interest at the bank's prime lending, the bankers' acceptance or the
LIBOR rates plus applicable margins ranging from 125 to 225 basis points. The Note Purchase Facility is unsecured
and was fully drawn at December 31, 2002.

6. Long-term Debt

2002 2001
US$450 million Senior Secured Notes 3 710,820 -
Bank Debt $ 65,000 $ 279,481
$ 775,820 $ 279,481

(a) OnApril 23, 2002, the Corporation issued Senior Secured Notes in the amount of US$450 million, bearing interest
at 8,375 per cent, with a maturity of May 1, 2012 (the “Offering”). The net proceeds of the Offering were used to
repay all amounts outstanding under the Corporation’s $535 million bank facility (which was cancelled upon
repayment) and repay all amounts due to Shell Canada Limited, with the balance of the proceeds used to fund
the Corporation's share of remaining construction costs for the oil sands project. The Senior Secured Notes
provide the holders with security over all the assets of the Corporation, subordinated to the Senior Credit Facility,
until the Corporation achieves an investment grade corporate credit rating, at which time the Senior Secured
Notes become unsecured.
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(®) In conjunction with the Offering, the Corporation established a new $100 million Senior Credit Facility (the “Senior
Credit Facility”") with a syndicate of Canadian chartered banks, up to $75 million of which will be used to fund the
first year's debt service under the Offering and construction completion costs; the remaining $25 million will be
used for working capital and letter of credit requirements. Borrowings under the facility bear interest at the lenders’
prime lending, the bankers' acceptance or the LIBOR rates plus applicable margins ranging from 100 to 200 basis
points. $75 million of the Senior Credit Facility matures and is repayable by Aprit 23, 2005. The Senior Credit Facility
contains certain covenants and other provisions, which restrict the Corporation’s ability to incur additional indebt-
edness, pay dividends or make distributions of any kind, undertake an expansion of the oil sands project, dispose
of its interest in the oil sands project, or change the nature of its business. The Senior Credit Facility provides the

banks with security over all of the assets of the Corporation, with the exception of certain intercompany notes and
note guarantees issued in connection with the Offering detailed in Note 6(a). At December 31, 2002, an amount of
$45 million had been drawn under this Senior Credit Facility and letters of credit for $15.4 million had been issued.

(¢) OnNovember 19, 2002, the Corporation established a $50 million 364-day Extendible Revolving Credit Facility (the
"Revolving Facility") with a syndicate of Canadian chartered barks. Borrowings under the Revolving Facility bear
Interest at the lenders' prime lending, the bankers' acceptance or the LIBOR rates plus applicable margins ranging 57

from 100 to 200 basis points. The Revolving Facility provides the banks with security over all of the assets of the

Corporation, with the exception of certain intercompany notes and note guarantees in connection with the Offering

detailed in Note 6(a). The Revolving Facility contains a two-year term-out provision should the facility not be

renewed. At December 31, 2002, an amount of $20 million had been drawn under this facility.

(d) The Corporation defers all issue costs and charges relating to the Corporation’s existing debt facilities prior to
commencement of commercial operations, and will amortize the charges thereafter. Upon completion of the
Offering, $22.8 million of such costs (representing amounts not related to continuing debit facilities) were written off.

7. Income Taxes

2002 2001
Large Corporations Tax $ 2,905 $ 1,835
Future Income Tax (22,551) -
Income tax (recovery) expense $ (19,646) $ 1,538

Cash taxes paid during the year ended December 31, 2002 were $2.4 million (December 31, 2001 ~ $1 million) and
related solely to Large Corporations Tax.

At December 31, 2002, the future income tax liability consists of:

2002 2001

Future Income Tax assets

Net losses carried forward ) b 19,069 $ 11,584

Share issue costs 2,086 3,191

Debt issue costs 1,386 -
Future Income Tax liabilities '

Renunciation of deductions for flow-through shares (23,008) -

Debt issue costs - . (4,132)
Less: valuation allowance - (10.643)

Net future income tax liability 3 (454) 3 -
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The following table reconciles income taxes calculated at the Canadian statutory rate of 42.12% (2001 — 42.62%) with
actual income taxes:

2002 2001
Loss before income taxes $ (28,649} $ (5,480)
Income tax recovery at statutory rate (12,087) (2,:336)
Unrecognized benefit of losses - 2,336
Recognition of losses brought forward (10,484) -
Large Corporations Tax 2,906 . 1,535
Income tax (recovery) expense $ (19,646) $ 1,536

‘The tax loss carry forward balances as evaluated at December 31, 2002 and the expiry dates are as follows:

Year Created Amount Expiry
1999 $ 1.2 million 2006
2000 $ 11.7 million 2007
2001 $ 8.8 million 2008
2002 $ 23.6 million 2008

In addition, at December 31, 2002, the Corporation had approximately $1.1 billion of tax pools available.

8. Other Long-term Liabilities

2002 2001

Capital lease obligation ' $ 50,859 $ 35,138
Payable to Shell Canada Limited . - 53,687
$ 50,858 $ 88,825

The capital lease obligation relates to the Corporation's share of capital costs for the hydrogen-manufacturing unit
within the oil sands project. Repayment of the principal obligation is scheduled to be $0.7 million in 2003 and $1.3
million per annum thereafter until fully repaid.

The Corporation was obligated to pay $40 million to acquire an interest in the lease and to compensate the vendor of
the interest for the benefit of existing infrastructure at the Upgrader site. The Corporation elected to defer payment of
the $40 million by paying an annual deferral charge which includes interest plus an adjustment for income taxes, until
the Corporation issued the Senior Secured Notes, part of the proceeds of which were used to repay all amounts due
to Shell Canada Limited.

3. Share Capital

(a) Authorized

The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A shares (“Common Shares'), an unlimited
number of non-voting Convertible Class B Equity Shares (*'Class B Shares”), an unlirnited number of non-voting Class
C Preferred Shares and an unlimited number of Class D Preferred Shares, issuable in series.

The Common Shares are without nominal or par value. The Class B Shares are convertible into Common Shares upon
successful completion of a public offering or certain other events, but with no additional consideration owing to the
Corporation. There have been no Class C Preferred Shares issued. The Class D Preferred Shares, Series A, which
have been issued, are convertible into Common Shares prior to redemption on a one for one basis.




(b) Issued and Outstanding

Common Shares
Balance at Decernber 31, 2000
Issued on conversion of:

Class B Shares

Class A Special Warrants

Class B Special Warrants
Issued on exercise of Class B Warrants
Issued for cash !
Issued upon rights offering
Share issue Costs
Balance at December 31, 2001
Issued for cash
Renunciation of flow-through shares *
Balance at December 31, 2002

Class B Shares
Balance at December 31, 2000 ?

Issued for cash ® '

Converted to Comrnon Shares

Balance at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002

Class A Special Warrants

Balance at December 31, 2000

Converted to Common Shares

Balance at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002

Class B Special Warrants

Balance at December 31, 2000

Converted to Common Shares

Balance at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002

Class D Preferred Shares

Balance at December 31, 2000

Issued for cash

Share issue costs

Balance at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002
Total Share Capital

1

2

WESTERIN ©lL SANDS 2002

Number

of Shares Amount

4,000,011 3 56,460
37,935,280 315,656

279,950 912

823,707 2,059

465,188 3,721
625,000 10,000
3,384,835 417,388
(856)

47,513,971 $ 435,340
228,500 1,977
- {23,005)
47,742,471 414,312
32,929,372 $ 243,895

5,005,908 71,761
(37,935,280) (315,656)
- 3 -

279,850 $ 912
(279,950) 812)

- $ -

823,707 $ 2,058
(823,107) (2,059)

- $ -

- $ -

666,667 12,000
@D

666,667 $ 11,963
48,408,138 426,275

Includes 625,000 shares issued by the Corporation on a flow-through basis.

Includes 1,491,084 shares issued by the Corporation cn a flow-through basis.

% Includes 1,601,179 shares issued by the Corporation on a flow-through basis.

In accordance with certain provisions of the Income Tax Act, Canadian exploration expenses or Canadian development expenses

related to expenditures of the subscribed funds for shares issued on a flow-through basis are transferred to the shareholders.
Effective December 31, 2002, all the expenditures related to these shares had been rencunced and the tax deductions were trans-
ferred to the shareholders. Accordingly, a future income tax liability is created and share capital is reduced by the tax effect of the

renounced expenditures.
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(¢) Loss Per Share

In calculating the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding, the Corporation includes Commmeon
Shares, Class B Shares, Class A Special Warrants, and Class B Special Warrants. The Class B Shares have been
included as they are entitied to dividends in parity with the Cormmon Shares. On February 1, 2001 the Corporation
qualified for distribution the Common Shares issuable on conversion or exercise of the Class B Shares and the Class
A and B Special Warrants. Weighted average number of Common Shares ocutstanding for December 31, 2002 is
48,330,320 (December 31, 2001~ 41,404,904).

(d) Class D Preferred Shares

On March 14, 2001, the Corporation completed a private placement for the issuance of 666,661 Class D Preferred
Shares, Series A, for proceeds of $12 million. The Class D Preferred Shares, Series A, can be converted into Common
Shares prior to redemption on a one for one basis. If not previously converted, they are redeemable at the option of
the Corporation at any time at a price equal to their issue price, plus a cumulative dividend of 12 per cent per year
compounded semi-annually until ]anuar‘} 1, 2007, from which date the dividend increases by 3 per cent per quarter
to a maximurn of 24 per cent per year. Cash dividends are not paid on the Class D Preferred Shares.

(e) Call Obligations

The Corporation has entered into call obligation agreements with certain shareholders, which obligate the holders of
the obligations to purchase up to 3,040,000 Class B Shares for $5.00 per share. The Corporaticn is entitled to require
the subscriber to exercise their call obligations at its discretion upon the satisfaction of certain conditions. These call
obligations were to expire on December 31, 2001, but were extended until March 31, 2003. An additional 2,589,641
call obligations were entered into in July 2001, whereby each call obligation is exercisable into one Class B Share and
one warrant to purchase a Class B Share upon the payment of $13.00 per call obligation. These call obligations are
exercisable until March 31, 2003 at the Corporation’s discretion and the underlying warrant is exercisable at the then
market price for a period of four years after the call obligation exercise. There is a requirement imposed by the TSX
to undertake a rights offering prior to exercising any of the call obligations entered into in July 2001.

(fy Warrants

Effective February 1, 2001 the Corporation qualified for distribution 34,033,029 Common Shares, 494,224 Class A
Warrants and 465,188 Class B Warrants resulting from the conversion of 32,928,372 Class B Shares; 279,950 Class A
Special Warrants; and 823,707 Class B Special Warrants. In the first quarter of 2001, all Warrant Opticns and the
465,188 Class B Warrants were exercised. Consequently, the Corporation issued 465,188 Common Shares and
received proceeds of $3.7 million. Each Class A Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share at $2.50
per share until five years after start-up of the oil sands project.

(g) Issuances

On July 25, 2001, the Corporation completed a private placement to certain of its existing shareholders for the
issuance of 4,130,318 Class B Shares, of which 725,589 were issued on a flow-through basis, for aggregate proceeds
of $57.9 million. Certain shareholders also undertook to subscribe for 725,590 Class B Shares on a flow-through basis
that were issued on Novemnber 1, 2001 for pfoceeds of $11.3 million. In addition, the Corporation issued a further
150,000 Class B shares on a flow-through basis on November !, 200! at a price of $17.30 per share, for gross
proceeds of $2.6 million. All 5,008,908 Class B Shares issued during 2001 were converted into Common Shares on
November 27, 2001 upon qualification by prospectus, for no additional proceeds.

On October 25, 2001 the Corporation completed a Rights Offering, whereby rights to subscribe for 3,384,835
Common Shares at a price of $14.00 per share were offered to the holders of Common Shares and Class B Shares, for

aggregate proceeds of $47.4 miltion.
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10. Stock Options

(a) Stock Option Plan

The Corporation has established a Stock Option Plan for the issuance of options to purchase Common Shares to direc-
tors, officers and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and persons providing ongoing services to the
Corporation and its subsidiaries. Options granted under the Stock Option Plan generally vest on an annual basis over
four years. The stock options expire five years from each vesting date.

2003 2001

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Number Exercise Number Exercise

of Optians Price of Options Price

(thousands) ; (thousands)

Outstanding at beginning of year 1,238 $ 9.52 1,077 $ 8.53

Granted 429 23.81 201 14.61

Exercised {229) 8.64 - -
Cancelled (109) 8.50 (40} 8.50 61

Outstanding at end of year 1,329 $ 14.40 1,238 $ 9.52

Exercisable at end of year ) 550 $ 8.02 526 $ 8.53

The following table summarizes Stock Options outstanding and exercisable under the Stock Opton Plan at
December 31, 2002;

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number Remaining Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Price of Options Life Price of Options Price

(thousands) (months) (thousands)

$8.50 - $12.00 704 54.2 3 8.55 508 $ 8.53
$12.01 - $16.00 198 740 14.64 45 14.66
$20.01 - $24.00 411 81.1 23.85 - -
$24.01 - $28.00 18 76.3 25.43 - -
1,329 65.8 $ 1440 ‘ 580 $ 9.02

The number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under the Stock Option Plan was 3,000,000 at
December 31, 2002 (3,000,000 at December 31, 2001).

(b) Stock-Based Compensation

No compensation expense has been recognized when stock options are granted, in accordance with Note 1(f). Had
compensation expense been determined based on the fair value method for awards made after December 31, 2001, the
Company's net incorne and earnings per share would have been adjusted to the proforma amounts indicated below:

Year Ended
December 31,2002

Net loss for the year - as reported $ 8,003
Net loss for the year - proforma % 8,708
Basic loss per share — as reported $ 0.21
Basic loss per share ~ proforma 3 0.23
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The proforma amounts exclude the effect of stock options granted pricr to January 1, 2002. The weighted average fair
value of the 429,000 options granted during the year was $8.39 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The
following table sets out the assumptions used in applying the Black-Scholes model:

Year Ended

December 31, 2002

Risk free interest rate, average for year 4.55%
Expected life (in years) 5.00
Expected volatility 0.30
Dividend per share -

11. Shareholders Rights Plan

The Corporation has a shareholders’ rights plan (the "Plan™). Under the Plan, one right will be issued with each
Common Share issued. The rights remain attached to the Common Share and are not exercisable or separable unless
one or more certain specified events occur. If a person or group acting in concert acquires 20 per cent or more of the
Common Shares of the Corporation, the rights will entitle the holders thereof (other than the acquiring person or
group) to purchase Common Shares of the Corporation at a 50 per cent discount from the then market price. The
rights are not triggered by a “Permitted Bid", as defined in the Plan.

12. Financial Instruments and Risk Management
The Corporation’s financial instruments that are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are comprised of cash,
temporary investrnents, accounts receivable, all current liabilities and long-term borrowings and the Convertible Notes.

(a) Commodity Price Risk
The Corporation has entered inte various commeodity pricing agreements designed to mitigate the exposure to the
volatility of crude oil prices in Canadian dollars. The agreements are summarized as follows:

Notional Hedge Price Unrealized

Volume Period Received Gain/(Loss)

WTI Swaps 4,500 bbls/d April 1, 2003 to March 31, 2004 Cdn$39.72 ($1.1 million)
WTI Swaps 8,500 bbls/d April 1,"2004 to March 31, 2005 Cdn$36.95 (31.5 million)

(b) Credit Risk
A substantial portion of the Corporation’s accounts receivable relates to recoverable Goods & Services Tax. All crude
oil swap agreements are with major financial institutions in Canada.

(c¢) Interest Rate Risk
At December 31, 2002, there would be no increase or decrease in net earnings from a one per cent change in the
interest rates on floating rate debt as all interest has been capitalized as part of the cost of the oil sands project.

(d) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and foreign curren-
cies will affect the Corporation's operating and financial results. At December 31, 2002, the Corporation's only
significant exposure to these foreign exchange risks is in connection with its United States dollar de;xominated debtas
described in Note 6(a).

(e) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The fair values of financial instrurnents that are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, other than long-term
borrowings, approximate their carrying amount due to the relatively short period to maturity of these instruments.
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The estimated fair values of long-term borrowings have been determined based upon market prices at December
31, 2002 for other similar liabiliies with similar terms and conditions, or by discounting future payments of interest and
principal at estimated interest rates that would be available to the Corporation at year-end.

2002 2001
Balance Balance
Sheet Fair Sheet Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Floating rate debt:
Revolving credit and term loan borrowings $ 65,000 § 868,000 $ 279,481 $ 279,481
Other long-term liabilites 50,859 50,858 88,825 88,825
Fixed rate debt:
US Senior Secured Notes 710,820 700,158 - -
Long-term berrowings $ B26,679 $ 816,017 $ 368,308 $ 368,306

13. Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Commitments

On December 8, 1899 the Corporation executed an Authority for Expenditure (“AFE") related to the oil sands project.
The original AFE obligated the Corporation to expend $709.4 million from 1999 to 2003. Du:ing the course of
construction, additional costs of $377.6 million have been identified that will be required to complete the oil sands
project. On the basis of this level of expenditures, the Corporation has funding arrangements that are sufficient to
cover its share of commitments. The Corporation continues to pursue initiatives to optimize and refine its capital struc-
ture as it progresses through project construction to operations.

In addition, the Corporation has executed or will execute long-term third party agreements to provide for the
following services and utilities; pipeline transportation of bitumen and upgraded products, electrical and thermal
energy, production and supply of hydrogen and transportation of natural gas. Under the terms of these agreements,
the Corporation is committed to pay for these utilities and services on a long-term basis, regardiess of the extent that
such services and utliies are actually used. If due to project delay, suspension, shut down or other reason, the
Corporation fails to meet its commitment under these agreements, the Corporation may incur substantial costs and
may, in some circumstances, be obligated to purchase the faciliies constructed by the third parties for a purchase
price in excess of the fair market value of the facilities. )

The Corporation and the other owners of the oil sands Joint Venture have entered into long-term operating lease obli-
gations for certain equipment related to the oil sands project in addition to the amounts committed to under the AFE.
The term of the lease obligations is between three and seven years, and the agreements provide for a committed
payment of 85 per cent of the original cost of the equipment to the lessor at the end of the terms. The Corporation
anticipates its share of the final value of the leased equipment will total between $40 to $60 million. At December 31,
2002, the Corporation’s share of committed payments amounted to $37.4 million. The estimate of lease interest obli-
gations for the next five years, excluding any committed payments, is as follows:

2003 § -
2004 $ 2.9 million
2005 3 2.6 million
2006 $ 2.4 million
2007 $ 2.8 million

These long-term operating leases are held within a Special Purpose Entity (“SPE"™) as defined in the CICA draft quide-
line “'Consolidation of Special Purpose Entiies”. The impact of consolidating the SPE at December 31, 2002 would be
to increase both capital assets and long term liabilifes by approximately $23.4 million.
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(b} Contingencies

During the year, the Corporation has submitted claims, under its insurance policy for cost over-runs and delays in
production, significantly in excess of the policy limit of $200 million. No amounts have been reflected in the consoli-
dated financial statements in respect of this potential recovery. Management of the Corporation believes that while the
policy amounts will be recovered, the timing of receipt cannot yet be ascertained.

14, Supplementary Information

(a) Net change in non-cash working capital

Source/(Use) 2002 2001
Operating Activities
Accounts receivable $ (4,011} % -
Inventory (4,118) -
Accounts payable and accrued liabiliies 281 -
$ (7,865) $ -
Investing Activities
Accounts receivable $ 4,678 3 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (10,550} (18,231)
$ (5,875) $ (18,231)

(b) Cumulative Statement of Cash Flow
The following represents the Corporation's cumulative statement of cash flow from June 18, 1999 to December 31, 2002.

Cumulative
from inception

Cash provided by (used in})
Operating
Net loss for the period $ (21,440)
Non-cash items
Write-off of deferred financing costs 22,759
Future income tax recovery (22,551)
Armortization 532
Cash from Operations (20,700)
Increase in non-cash working capital (7,865)
(28,665)
Financing
Issue of share capital 448,280
Increase in long-term debt 1,053,320
Repayment of long-term debt (279,481)
Increase in long-term liabilities . 4,250
Issue of Convertible Notes 88,000
Charge for Convertible Notes (1,283)
Repayment of long-term liabilites (57,032)
Debt issue and deferred charges (50,181)
Cash Generated 1,208,873
Investing
Capital expenditures (1,199,986)
Restricted cash -
Decrease in non-cash working capital 317,216
Cash Invested (1,162,780)
Increase in cash 14,428
Cash at beginning of pericd -

Cash at end of period ‘ 3 14,428
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15. Subseqguent Events

(a) Equity offering

On February 7, 2003, the Corporation completed a public offering for the issuance of 2,050,000 Common Shares for
aggregate proceeds of $50.2 million. The offering was underwritten by a syndicate of Canadian underwriters and
undertaken through the filing of a short form prospectus.

(b) Credit facility ‘
On January 30, 2003, the Corporation increased the availability under its Revolving Facility described in Note 6(c)
above by $28 million, with the addition of another Canadian chartered bank to the syndicate.

18. United States Accounting Principles and Reporting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada (Canadian GAAP) which, in most respect, conform to accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (US GAAP). Canadian GAAP differs from US GAAP in the following respects:

Reconciliation of Net Loss under Canadian GAAP to US GAAP &

Year Ended December 31

Note 2002 2001 2000
Net Loss — Canadian GAAP $ 9,003 $ 7,015 $ 5422
Impact of US GAAP
Borrowing costs v 3,295 4,410 5,369
Loss on derivative financial instruments Vi 38 - -
Interest on Convertible notes ix (163) - -
Pre-operating costs vi 1,374 - -
Deferred Income Tax i 18,828 - -
Net Loss — US GAAP $ 334717 3 11,425 $ 10,791
Net Loss per Share
Basic and diluted - Canadian GAAP $ 0.21 $ 0.17 3 021

Basic and diluted - US GAAP 3 0.62 $ 0.28 3 0.41

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows - US GAAP

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001 2000
Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities $ (21,074) & (11285) $& (10,62))
Financing activities 812,722 404,941 185,644
Investing activities (530,193) (434,824) (147,069)

(Decrease) Increase in Cash $ (38,545) $ (41,138) $ 27,854
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at December 31

Note

Assets
Current Assets
Capital Assets vviix
Deferred Charges
Liabilities
Current Liabilities ix
Financial Liabilities vt
Long-term Debt
Other Long-term Liabilities i
Shareholders’ Equity
Share Capital X
Convertible Notes ix
Deficit vix,x
Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income vii
i. Stock Based Compensation

2002 2001
As reparted UsS GAAP As reported US GAAP
$ 25227 $ 25,227 $ 60201 $ 60,201
1,306,989 1,283,887 761,839 752,160
27,422 27,422 32,254 32,254
$ 1,359,638 $ 1,346,636 $ 854,394 $ 844,615
$ 45,008 $ 128,853 $ 51,222 3 54,922
- 2,600 - -
715,820 175,820 279,481 219,481
51,313 50,859 88,825 88,828
872,141 958,232 419,528 423,228
426,275 445,580 447,303 443,603
83,945 - - -
(22,723) (55,693) (12,437) (22,216)
-~ (1,483) - -
$ 1,358,838 $ 1,346,636 $ 854,394 $ '844,615

The Corporation accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under CICA 3870, under which no compensation

expense is recognized in the consolidated financial statements when stock options are granted. If compensation

expense had been recorded in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS™) No. 123, the

Corporation's net loss and net loss per share would approximate the following pro forma amounts:

Compensation Expense
Net Loss:
As reported - US GAAP
Pro Forma
Net Loss per Share:
As reported ~ US GAAP
Pro Forma

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001 2000

3 703 $ 586 $ 552
33,477 11,425 10,791
34,180 12,021 11,343
0.68 0.28 0.41

0.71 0.29 0.43
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The fair value of each opticn granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model with

weighted average assumptions for grants as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001 2000
Risk free interest rate, average for year 4.55% 5.20% 5.94%
Expected life (in years) 5.00 4.00 4.00
Expected volatility . 0.30 0.22 0.20
Dividend per share - - -
ii. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

a) FAS 145 Accounting for Gains and Losses on Settlement of Debt
In April 2002, FAS 145 was issued rescinding the requirement to include gains and losses on the settlement of
debt as extraordinary items. FAS 145 is applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after May 15, 2002. The stan-

dard has been adopted by the Corporation with no impact. -

b) FAS 146 Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities
In June 2002, FAS 146 was issued. The standard requires that liabilities for exit or disposal activity costs be recog-
nized and measured at fair value when the liability is incurred. This standard is effective for disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002.

c) FAS 148 Accounting for Stock-based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure
In December 2002, FASB issued FAS 148 as an amendment to FAS 123 "“Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. FAS 148 is applicable for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2003. The Corporation does not expect that the adoption of this pronounéement will have an
impact on its financial statements.

d) FASB Interpretation 46 Consolidation of Variable Indirect Entities
In February 2003, FASB issued FASB Interpretation 486, to be effective for the first interim or annual reporting
" period beginning after June 14, 2003. The standard mandates that certain special-purpose entities be consoli-
dated by their primary beneficiary. At December 31, 2002, the Corporation has an operating lease that may be
consolidated under the new standard; refer to Note 13 ‘Commitments and Contingencies’.

e) Hedge Accounting
The CICA issued Accounting Guideline 13 “Hedging Relationships", effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after July 1, 2003. The guideline establishes certain conditions for when hedge accounting may be applied, but
does not specify hedge accounting methods. The Corporation does not expect that the adoption of this
proncuncement will have an impact on its financial statements.

f)  FAS 143 Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations
FASB issued FAS 143, effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. FAS 143 applies to legal obligations
associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset that result from the acquisition, construction, devel-
opment and/or the normal operation of a long-lived asset, except for certain obligations of lessees. The effect on
the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements has not been determined at this time.
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iii, Income Taxes
Under US GAAP, the net deferred income tax liability as at December 31, 2002 and 2001 consists of:

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001
Future Income Tax assets ]
Net losses carried forward $ 19,068 $ 11,584
Share issue costs 2,096 3,191
Debt issue costs 1,386 ~
Financial liabilities in excess of tax values 1,078 -
Future Income Tax liabilities
Renunciation of deductions for flow-through shares (23,008) -
Tax values in excess of bocok capital assets (579) -
Debt issue costs - (4,132)
Less: valuation allowance (45) (10,643)
Net Future Income Tax Liability - US GAAP $ - 3 -

The following table reconciles income taxes calculated at the Canadian statutory rate of 42.12% (2001 — 42.62%) with
actual income taxes:

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001
Loss before income taxes ~ Canadian GAAP $ (28,648) $ (5.480)
US GAAP adjustments (4,545) (4,410)
Loss before income taxes — US GAAP (33,184) (9,850)
Expected income tax (13,981) (4,215)
Unrecognized benefit of losses - 4218
Recognition of losses brought forward (7,9846) -
Large Corporations Tax 2,908 1,538
Renunciation of deductions for flow-through shares 19,308 -
Income tax expense - US GAAP 3 283 3 1,535

iv. Capital Asset Impairment

Under Canadian GAAP when the net carrying value of a capital asset, less its related provision for future removal and
site restoration costs and future income taxes, exceeds the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows together with
its residual value, the excess is charged to earnings. Under US GAAP the Corporation would account for long-lived
assets in accordance with the United States provision FAS 144 “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for the Long-Lived Asset to be Disposed of". This Statement requires that long-lived assets and certain identifi-
able intangibles be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a compar-
ison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets
are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the armount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

v'. Borrowing Costs

Under Canadian GAAP, standby fees and foreign exchange gains or losses associated with borrowing facilities can be
deferred as costs incurred during the pre-operating period. Under US GAAP, these costs would be expensed as
incurred. The effect of this difference is to increase expenses by $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
(2001 - $4.4 million, 2000 - $5.4 million), to increase Deficit brought forward by $9.8 million (2001 — $5.4 million, 2000
— $nil) and to reduce capital assets at December 31, 2002 by $13.1 million (2001 - $9.8 million, 2002 - $5.4 million).
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vi. End of Pre-operating Period

Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation is deemed to have ended its pre-operating period upon commencement of
commercial production. Until that time, training and start-up costs associated with the Project during the pre-operating
period are deferred and capitalized as part of the Project. Under US GAAP, the Corporation is deemed to have ended
its pre-operating period upon mechanical completion of the Project, which occurred on December 1, 2002, such that
training and start-up costs are expensed thereafter. The effect of this difference is to increase expenses by $1.4 million
for the year ended December 3!, 2002 and to reduce capital assets at December 31, 2002 by $1 .4 million.

vii. Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is measured in accordance with FAS 130 "Reporting Comprehensive Income”. This Standard
defines comprehensive income as all changes in equity other than those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Corporation had other comprehensive
income arising due to unrealized losses on derivative financial instruments designated as hedge transactions. At
December 31, 2002 this other comprehensive income amounted to a loss net of tax of $1.48 million.

viii. Derivative financial instruments and Hedging

Under Canadian GAAP, the derivative financial instruments qualify for hedge accounting and the payments or receipts
on these contracts are recognized in earnings concurrently with the hedged transaction and changes in the fair values
of the contracts are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements. US GAAP requires that all derivative finan-
cial instruments be recorded on the balance sheet as either assets or liabilities at their fair values. When specific
hedging criteria is met, then changes in the derivative's fair value can be recorded in cther comprehensive income
and any ineffectiveness of the hedge is recorded in earnings for the period. Management has designated the deriva-
tive financial instruments as hedges and as a result, under US GAAP, the effect is to record the change in the fair value
of the hedges of $2.56 million ($1.48 million net of tax) in other comprehensive income and $0.04 million in expenses.
In addition, liabilites increase by $2.6 million, being the full amount of the unrealized losses.

ix. Convertible Notes

Under Canadian GAAP, armounts drawn under the Note Purchase Facility are deemed to consist of both an equity and
a liability component, recognized as convertible notes, The initial carrying amount of the equity component is adjusted
for accretion to bring it up to the stated principal amount of the Note Purchase Facility at maturity. This accretion is
charged to the Deficit. Under US GAAP, all amounts drawn under the Note Purchase Facility are classified as a liability
and any charges paid on these notes are treated as interest expense. As the Note Purchase Facility is in place to finance
the oil sands project, the interest can be capitalized as part of the oil sands project costs. The effect of this difference is
to reclass convertible notes of $83.9 million from shareholders’ equity to current liabilities. In addition, the accretion is
reversed and interest expensed under this facility can be capitalized as part of the oil sands project. The effect is to
decrease expenses by $0.16 million, decrease the Deficit by $1.28 million and increase capital assets by $1.44 million.

X. Flow-through Shares

Under Canadian GAAP flow-through shares are recorded at their face value within share capital. When the expendi-
tures are rencunced and the tax deductions transferred to the shareholders, future income tax liabilities will increase
and the share capital will be reduced. Under US GAAP when the shares are issued the proceeds are allocated
between the offering of the shares and the sale of tax benefits. The allocation is made based on the difference between
the quoted price of the existing shares and the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares (given no other
differences between the securities), A liability is recognized for this difference. The liability is reversed when tax
benefits are renounced and a deferred tax liability recognized at that ime. Income tax expense is the difference
between the amount of the deferred tax liability and the liability recognized on issuance. At December 31, 2002, the
Corporation had recognized all renouncements of the tax deductions to the investors. The effect of this difference is
to increase share capital by $19.3 million (2001 — decrease of $3.7 million) and increase deferred income tax expense
by $16.3 million (2001 — $nil) and no effect on current labiliies (2001 — an increase of $3.7 million).
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Biographies

Directors

Glen F. Andrews

Bainbridge Island, Washington

Director since October, 1999

Retired businessman. Previously President of BHP Copper North America untl June 1999. Prior thereto, Executive
Vice-President and General Manager, BHP Copper of the South America and Pacific regions from 1996 to 1998 and
North American region in 1998.

Tullio Cedraschi

Montreal, Quebec

Director since October, 2000

President and Chief Executive Officer of CN Investment Division, the entity responsible for investing the assets of the
Canadian National Railways Pension Trust Funds.

Geolffrey A. Cumming

Auckland, New Zealand

Chairman and Director since October, 1999

Vice-Chairman of Gardinér Group Capital Limited, Toronto, a private Canadian investment corporation, and Deputy
Chairman of Emerald Capital Limited, a private New Zealand investment corporation.

Walter W, Grist

New York, New York

Director since December, 1999

Managing Director, Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.,, a private investment management and banking partnership
which is general partner of The 1818 Fund II{, L.P.

Brian F. MacNeill

Calgary, Alberta

Director since October, 1999

Chairman of Petro-Canada since 2000. President and Chief Executive Officer of Enbridge Inc., an energy transporta-
ton, distribution and services corporation, from 1991 to September 1, 2000.

Robert G. Puchniak

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Director since October, 1899

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of James Richardson & Sons, Limited ("James Richardson”), an
investment and holding corporation, since March 2001, Prior thereto, Vice-President, Finance and Investment, James
Richardson since 1996.
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Guy J. Turcotte

Calgary, Alberta

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director since July, 1999

President of Western since January 2002 and Chief Executive Officer of Western since July 1999; Chairman of Fort
Chicago Energy Partmers, L.P. éince September 1997 and Chief Executive Officer until December 2002; Chief
Executive Officer of Stone Creek Properties since March 1998; pricr thereto, founder, Chairman and/or President and
Chief Executive Officer of Chauvco Resowrces Ltd. from January 198! to December 1997.

Mac H. Van Wielingen

Calgary, Alberta

Director since December, 1999

Chairman of ARC Financial Group Ltd. ("ARC"), a private investment management and merchant banking company,
and previously, President of ARC since 1889.

Officers

Charles W. Berard

Calgary, Alberta

Corporate Secretary

Parmer with Macleod Dixon LLP, Barristers & Solicitors.

David A. Dyck

Calgary, Alberta

Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Western since April 2000; prior thereto, Senior Vice President
Finance & Administration and Chief Financial Officer of Surnmit Resources Limited {*‘Summit”) since September 1998;
Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Summit from October 1996 to September 1998,

John Frangos

Calgary, Alberta

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Western since January 2002; prior thereto Corporate
Development, Western since May 1999; previously Vice President International Business Development of BHP
Minerals from 1997 to May 1999.

Gerry Luft

Calgary, Alberta

Vice President Marketing

Vice President Marketing of Western since January 2002; prior thereto President of ProServ Energy Inc.
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Corporate Governance

Composition of the Board

The Board currently consists of nine directors who provide a wide diversity of business experience. Eight of the board
members are independent of management and are unrelated directors. Each of the unrelated directors is free from
any business or other relationship which could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with the director's
ability to act with a view to the best interest of the Corporation, other than interests and relationships which arise solely
as a result of shareholding.

Board Committees and their Mandates
The Board has four committees, Each committee has three members who are unrelated directors. The committees
are: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and the Health Safety and

Environment Committee.

Audit Committee

Chair: Robert G. Puchniak

Members: Brian F. MacNeill, Mac H. Van Wielingen

The Audit Committee reviews Western's interim unaudited consolidated financial statements and annual audited consol-
idated financial statements and certain corporate disclosure documents including the annual information form,
management’s discussion and analysis, offering documnents including all prospectuses and other offering memoranda
before they are approved by the Board. The Committee reviews and makes a recommendation to the Board in respect
of the appointment of the external auditor and it monitors accounting, fimancial reporting, control and audit functions. The
Audit Committee meets to discuss and review the audit plans of external auditors. The committee questions the external
auditor independently of management and reviews a written statement of its independence based on the criteria found
in the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. In addition, it reviews and reports to the
Board on Western’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the internal control procedures to determine

their effectiveness and to ensure compliance with Western's policies and avoidance of conflicts of interest.

The Audit Committee is also charged with reviewing the report of the independent engineers relating to the
Corporation’s reserves. The committee will meet independently of management with the independent engineers to
review the evaluation report, the corporate summary of the reserves and future cash flows of the oil sands properties
and other related matters. In addition, it will review the Corporation’s relationship with the independent consulting firm.

Compensation Committee

Chair: Geoffrey A. Cumming

Members: Robert G. Puchniak, Glen F. Andrews

The Cormnmittee reviews successions plans for key management positions within the Corporation, human resource
policies and plans, the performance and development of the CEO and other senior officers of the Corporation. The
Committee makes recommendations to the Board with respect to the salary and other remuneration to be awarded to
senior executive officers of Western. It also makes recommendations to the Board in respect of all other compensa-
tion matters including long- and short-term incentives such as bonus, stock option plans and other benefits and is
responsible for developing these programs.
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Corporate Governance Committee

Chair: Mac H. Van Wielingen

Members: Geoffrey A. Cumming, Brian F. MacNeill

The Governance Committee’s mandate is to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the various other
committees as well as individual directors. It also assesses the Corporation’s approach to corporate governance and
monitors the relationship between management and the Board. This Committee is responsible for recommending
candidates to the Board for nomination as directors and for the composition of various Board committees and for
recommendations regarding Chairmanship of the Board. The committee, together with the Compensation
Committee, also reviews and recommends compensation for Board and committee service. The Governance
Committee is also mandated to undertake those initiatives as are necessary to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices and in this respect is reviewing and implementing, as appropriate, certain recommendations
set out in the Final Report of the Joint Committee on Corporate Governance, dated November, 2001."

Health, Safety and Environment Committee

Chair: Glen F. Andrews

Members: Tullio Cedraschi, Walter W. Grist . 73
The Health, Safety and Environment Committee’s mandate is to monitor the health, safety and environmental prac-

tices and procedures of Western and its subsidiaries for compliance with applicable legislation, conformity with

industry standards and prevention or mitigation of losses. It reviews, reports and, when appropriate, makes recom-

mendations to the Board on the Corporation’s policies and procedures related to health, safety and the environment.
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